

University of Wollongong Research Online

University of Wollongong Thesis Collection

University of Wollongong Thesis Collections

2009

# Phytoremediation of hydrocarbon contaminants in sub-Antarctic soils

Jessica Bramley-Alves University of Wollongong

#### **Recommended** Citation

Bramley-Alves, Jessica, Phytoremediation of hydrocarbon contaminants in sub-Antarctic soils, Bachelor of Advanced Environmental Science (Honours) thesis, School of Biological Sciences, University of Wollongong, 2009. http://ro.uow.edu.au/theses/4089

Research Online is the open access institutional repository for the University of Wollongong. For further information contact the UOW Library: research-pubs@uow.edu.au



#### UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG

#### **COPYRIGHT WARNING**

You may print or download ONE copy of this document for the purpose of your own research or study. The University does not authorise you to copy, communicate or otherwise make available electronically to any other person any copyright material contained on this site. You are reminded of the following:

Copyright owners are entitled to take legal action against persons who infringe their copyright. A reproduction of material that is protected by copyright may be a copyright infringement. A court may impose penalties and award damages in relation to offences and infringements relating to copyright material. Higher penalties may apply, and higher damages may be awarded, for offences and infringements involving the conversion of material into digital or electronic form.

# Phytoremediation of hydrocarbon contaminants in sub-Antarctic soils

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of a Bachelor of

Advanced Environmental Science Honours



King penguins amongst the Poa foliosa on Macquarie Island. Photo: N. Grant

By

## Jessica Bramley-Alves

University of Wollongong



October 2009

#### Acknowledgements

This project was large and beyond the scope of an Environmental Science Honours project and as such required extensive support. Support was provided by a number of people who I would like to thank and acknowledge for their assistance. Seed was provided by the Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre and plants propagated by staff at the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens; thanks especially to James Wood and Lorrain Perrins. The experiment was set up and maintained at the Australian Antarctic Division (AAD), Kingston, Tasmania. Assistance with the experiment set up was provided by Jane Wasley, Catherine King and Sharyn Gaskin. Ongoing plant maintenance and plant photosynthetic measurements were conducted by Jane Wasley. Petroleum hydrocarbon analyses were run by staff at the AAD; thanks to Jane Wasley for sample preparation and extraction, Scott Stark for GC instrument support and Paul Harvey, Greg Hince, Scott Stark and Jane Wasley for TPH data integration and interpretation. Soil microbiology methods (MPN) were conducted by Shane Powell and Jane Wasley. Thanks to Anne Palmer for carrying out soil organic content measurements and also thanks to Ken Russell for statistical advice.

Thanks to my scholarship provider, the Roads and Traffic Authority, for their financial support, as well as the Australian Antarctic Division who funded this project. My thanks to my God parents Libby and Alan, and grandparents Colin and Peggy, who also gave me the financial freedom to strive for a good education. To Peggy, thank you for instilling in me the need to make a difference in this world, and to Colin thank you for giving me the belief that I can achieve it.

Many thanks to all of the girls of Sharon's lab group, in particular Nic, Mel and Diana, for all their help and advice throughout the year. Thank you for being good company and for opening up my world to a whole range of gluten free cakes!

To my parents Rachel and Philip, who have been constant supports to my education, thank you. Your interest and enthusiasm in my work, as well as your love and encouragement has been a central force in helping me write this thesis. I would also like to thank my friends and my fiancé Ben for keeping my feet on the ground and being there every step of the way. Ben where would I be without your ability to make me laugh?

Last, but by no means least, thank you to my three supervisors Sharon Robinson, Jane Wasley and Cath King who are all women I much admire. Very warm thanks to Sharon who has encouraged and taught me throughout this process. Thank you for being such a great inspiration

ii

to me and for all of your valuable advice, time and for your positive attitude towards this process that seemed to dissolve away the problems. To Jane, thank you for making this whole experience possible. Your guidance and support has been invaluable in this process and thank you for being so patient. Thanks also for inviting me into your beautiful home and making me feel so welcome, my time in Hobart will be happily remembered. Finally, to Cath thank you so much for all of your hard work and support over the year, I have really enjoyed getting to know you and you have been such a great help. Also, thank you for having me to stay and for enlightening me on the eighties. Exposure to "Wham!", "The Breakfast Club" and taking part in your epic lounge room dance parties has been an education in itself.

#### Abstract

Accidental fuel spills on sub-Antarctic Macquarie Island have caused considerable contamination. Due to the island's high latitude position, its climate, and the fragility of its ecosystems, traditional methods of remediation are unsuitable for onsite clean up. However, if left untreated, even minor to moderate fuel spills could take decades before natural attenuation reduces the petroleum to environmentally acceptable concentrations. Currently, low cost, low disturbance *in-situ* methods to enhance biodegradation of fuel products, such as nutrient additions and air sparging, are under examination on Macquarie Island. This study investigated the potential of the sub-Antarctic native tussock grass, Poa foliosa, to contribute to such remediation efforts. This species was selected as it is common in areas of contamination and displays criteria which enhance phytoremediation efficiency. Growth trials were conducted with seedlings of *P. foliosa* in soil artificially spiked with Special Antarctic Blend (SAB) diesel at concentrations of 0, 1 000, 5 000, 10 000, 20 000 or 40 000 mg/kg. Replicate pots, containing single seedlings, were compared with paired unplanted pots at each SAB soil concentration. Pots were kept under controlled conditions (8°C; photoperiod of 8.75/13.25 hours) to simulate the growth environment on Macquarie Island. Plants were harvested destructively at 0, 2, 4 and 8 months. Tolerance of *P. foliosa* to SAB, and the effects of fuel contaminants on plant health and productivity (biomass production, plant morphology, pigments and photosynthetic health) were assessed. The rate of SAB degradation and the microbial communities within the rhizosphere (total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degraders) were compared between planted and unplanted treatments. This study found *P. foliosa* to be highly tolerant across all SAB concentrations tested with respect to biomass, although higher concentrations of 20 000 and 40 000 mg/kg caused slight reductions in leaf length, width and area. Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH) were degraded 35 - 48% faster in planted soils compared to unplanted soil and were approaching soil background levels within four months. Although P. foliosa significantly stimulated the growth of both total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degraders at low concentrations of 0 and 1 000 mg/kg, the presence of microbes in the root zone did not appear to be the sole driving force behind TPH degradation. This study provides persuasive evidence that phytoremediation using P. foliosa is a valuable technology in the suite of current *in-situ* remediation methodologies being adopted at these sites, and may be applicable to the remediation of spills in other cold climate regions.

### **Table of Contents**

i
ii
iv
v
vii
viii
ix

#### **Chapter One: General Introduction**

1.1 Sub-Antarctic Macquarie Island	1
1.2 Environmental Remediation	8
1.3 Phytoremediation	13
1.4 Aims and thesis structure	18

# Chapter Two: The tolerance of the sub-Antarctic grass *Poa foliosa* to Special Antarctic Blend (SAB) fuel, and the effects of petroleum hydrocarbons on plant health and productivity

2.1 Introduction	20
2.2 Materials and Methods	22
2.2.1 Study species	22
2.2.2 Sampling procedure and experimental design	24
2.2.3 Soil organic content	26
2.2.4 Chlorophyll fluorescence	26
2.2.5 Leaf morphology	26
2.2.6 Plant biomass	27
2.2.7 Photosynthetic pigment extraction	27
2.2.8 Statistical analysis	28
2.3 Results	29
2.3.1 Soil organic content	29
2.3.2 Morphology	29
2.3.3 Biomass	32
2.3.4 Photosynthetic efficiency $(F_v/F_m)$	35
2.3.5 Photosynthetic pigment results	37

Chapter Three: Phytoremediation of Special Antarctic Blend (SAB) fuel using sub-Antarctic grass *Poa foliosa* 

3.1 Introduction	42
3.2 Materials and Methods	43
3.2.1 Sampling procedure and experimental design	43
3.2.2 SAB diesel fuel analysis	43
3.2.3 Most Probable Number Assay	44
3.2.4 Statistical Analysis	45
3.3. Results	46
3.3.1 Total petroleum hydrocarbon degradation	46
3.3.2 Microbial populations in the rhizosphere	47
3.3.3 Relationships between hydrocarbon degradation and microbes	50
3.4 Discussion	52
Chapter Four: General Discussion and Conclusions	58
4.1 Overview	58
4.2 Discussion, limitations and recommendations for future work	59
4.3 Conclusion	63
References	64
Appendix	81

## List of Figures

Front cover s	hows King penguins amongst the Poa foliosa on Macquarie Island			
Figure 1.1	Location of Macquarie Island in the southern ocean 2			
Figure 1.2	Location of the three main contaminated areas on Macquarie Island 7			
Figure 1.3	Cost-time relationship for soil remediation options			
Figure 1.4	Phytoremediation strategies employed for various contaminant types 1			
Figure 2.1	Poa foliosa in its natural habitat at Macquarie Island			
Figure 2.2	<b>The 2.2</b> Distribution of vegetation on the Isthmus of Macquarie Island			
Figure 2.3	Planted and unplanted replicate pots	24		
Figure 2.4	Replicates in group concentration trays within the growth room	25		
Figure 2.5	Examples of the root bound state of plants at the eight month harvest			
Figure 2.6	Changes in leaf length, width and area of P. foliosa in response			
	to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations for time intervals	30		
Figure 2.7	Root structure of P. foliosa exposed to SAB after eight months	32		
Figure 2.8	Changes in the shoot, root dry biomass, and shoot/root ratio of			
	P. foliosa in response to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations	33		
Figure 2.9	Changes in the mean $F_v/F_m$ over time	35		
Figure 2.10	Changes in the mean $F_v/F_m$ of <i>P. foliosa</i> replicates in response			
	to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations	36		
Figure 2.11	Changes in the total chlorophyll content and Chlorophyll <i>a/b</i> ratio			
	of P. foliosa in responses to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations	37		
Figure 3.1	Most Probable Number assay	45		
Figure 3.2	Changes in the TPH concentration of planted (P. foliosa) and			
	unplanted soil in relation to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations	47		
Figure 3.3	Change in the number of total bacteria, hydrocarbon degrading bacteria			
	and the ratio of hydrocarbon degrading bacteria to total bacteria	49		
Figure 3.4	Relationship between total bacteria, hydrocarbon degrading bacteria			
	and the ratio of hydrocarbon degrading bacteria in planted (P. foliosa)			
	and unplanted soil to the level of soil petroleum hydrocarbons	51		

### List of Tables

Table 1.1	Examples of traditional treatment methods for contaminated soil	9
Table 1.2	Advantages and disadvantages of phytoremediation	15
Table 2.1	One way ANOVA table on the effect of SAB fuel on the	
	morphological characteristics of the species P. foliosa	31
Table 2.2	One way ANOVA table effect of SAB fuel on shoot and root	
	biomass of P. foliosa	34
Table 2.3	Means ( $\pm$ SE) of the relative growth rates (MRGR) for shoot and root	
	of P. foliosa at different levels of SAB (petroleum) soil contamination	34
Table 2.4	One way ANOVA table on the effect of SAB fuel on shoot and root	
	biomass of P. foliosa	36
Table 2.5	One way ANOVA table on the effect of SAB fuel on total	
	chlorophyll and chlorophyll a/b of P. foliosa	38
Table 3.1	Three-way ANOVA table on the effect of time, concentration,	
	planted/unplanted and interactions on the level of TPH in soil	47
Table 3.2	Three-way ANOVA table on the effect of time, concentration,	
	planted/unplanted and interactions on the levels of total bacteria and	
	hydrocarbon degrading bacteria	50

## Abbreviations

AAD	Australian Antarctic Division
BH	Bushnell-Haas media
Chl a/b	Chlorophyll <i>a/b</i> ratio
DW	Dry weight
$F_v/F_m$	Optimal quantum efficiency
HPLC	High pressure liquid chromatography
INT	Iodonitrotetrazolium chloride solution
LED's	Light-emitting diodes
MPN	Most probable number
MRGR	Mean relative growth rate
PGPR	Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria
PAH	Poly-aromatic hydrocarbon
SAB	Special Antarctic blend
SLA	Shoot to leaf area
Tchl	Total chlorophyll content
TPH	Total petroleum hydrocarbon
UCM	Unresolved complex mixture
WW	Wet weight

## **Chapter 1** Introduction

#### 1.1 Sub-Antarctic Macquarie Island

#### Environment

Sub-Antarctic Macquarie Island lies in isolated waters midway between Tasmania, New Zealand and the Antarctic continent (54°38'S and 158°53'E; Selkirk *et al.* 1986; Figure 1.1). The island stretches north to a length of 34 km, and has a maximum width of only 5.5 km (Selkirk *et al.* 1990). The greater part of Macquarie Island is dominated by a large undulating plateau that rises from the coastline to a height of 240-250 m above sea level, with peaks that reach 433 m in the southern region (Kantvilas and Seppelt 1992). The plateau surface is littered with numerous lakes and streams, and is bounded by scarps which fall steeply to a narrow, low-lying coastal fringe (Bunt and Rovira 1988; Medek 2008). The steepness of the slopes, combined with the island's height, creates an environment which is highly threatened by slippage and greatly exposed to the natural elements.

The island is a Tasmanian State Reserve and an important terrestrial habitat for migrating animals (Selkirk *et al.* 1990). In 1997 the island was World Heritage listed for its unique geological and biological wealth and significance (Bergstrom *et al.* 2009).



Figure 1.1 Location of Macquarie Island in the southern ocean, and the placement of the Australian research station (adapted from Wasley *et al.* 2009).

#### Climate

The climate of Macquarie Island is heavily influenced by the surrounding Southern Ocean (Kantvilas and Seppelt 1992). Due to the island's position near the Antarctic convergence region, the diurnal and seasonal climate remains relatively uniform (Selkirk *et al.* 1990). The island is cold, moist and windy, with almost constant cloud cover and precipitation, resulting in a mean of only 2.2 hours of sunshine per day (Bunt and Rovira 1988). Air temperatures range from a mean maximum of 8.8°C in January to a minimum of 1.6°C in July. The average wind speed is 34 km/h, but can reach up to 185 km/h (Australian Bureau of Meteorology 2008). The climatic factor with greatest annual variation is day length, ranging from 7 hours in winter to 17 hours in summer (Selkirk *et al.* 1990; Kantvilas and Seppelt 1992).

#### Vegetation

Macquarie Island is an emergent proportion of the Macquarie Ridge and was formed by crustal accretion during sea floor spreading at the Antarctic-Australian spreading ridge (Christodoulou *et al.* 1984; Crohn 1986). As a result, Macquarie Island has never been connected to an adjacent land mass and all plants have arrived on the island via long-distance transoceanic dispersal or human introduction of seeds and spores (Seppelt 2004). Macquarie Island's closest neighbours are the Auckland and Campbell Islands, over 640 km away. The island's remoteness

from other land masses creates a barrier to propagule importation, and consequently there is low genetic diversity within the island's vegetation (Taylor 1955). Those species which successfully cross the ocean barrier are exposed to harsh environmental conditions that limit their survival potential. As a result the vegetation of Macquarie Island is poor and lacks diversity with only 46 species of native vascular flora, three of which are endemic to the island – *Azorella macquariensis* Orchard, *Corybas dienemus* (D.L. Jones), and *Puccinellia macquariensis* (Cheeseman; Copson 1984).

Macquarie Island is devoid of trees and shrubs due to the prevailing climate, but supports a wealth of grass and herb species that occur mostly around the lower slopes and narrow coastline, where they are protected from the wind (Spiegel and Stephenson 2000; Seppelt 2004). The vegetation is classified into five main formations, grassland, herbfield, fen, bog and feldmark (Taylor 1955).

**Grasslands** consist of two main species, a large tussock grass *Poa foliosa* (Hook.f.), and the mega herb *Stilbocarpa polaris* (Homb. et Jacq.) Gray, as well as the lesser species, *Poa cookii* (Hook.f.) Hook.f., and *Poa litorosa* (Cheeseman) and a few bryophytes (Taylor 1955; Seppelt 2004). Grasslands dominate well drained areas of the island where the water table is more than one foot below the surface, generally on the steep coastal slopes and inland valleys (Bunt and Rovira 1988). Short herb communities are often found in conjunction with *P. foliosa*, particularly in areas of disturbance, such as former land slips and in areas heavily grazed by rabbits (Kantvilas and Seppelt 1992).

In the higher areas of the plateau, in areas of moderate winds or in sheltered valleys, or in areas where the water table is close to the surface, **herbfields** prevail (Ashton 1965; Seppelt 2004). Herbfields contain greater species diversity than grasslands, and species include the dominant button moss, *Dicranoweisia antarctica* (C.M.) Par., as well as cushions of *Azorella selago* Hook., and the associate species *Pleurophyllum hookeri* and *Stilbocarpa polaris* A. Grey. (Clifford 1953; Spiegel and Stephenson 2000).

**Fen** communities occur in small patches on the raised beach terrace and in the valley floors of the plateau in areas where the water level is at or slightly above ground level and in contact with basaltic rocks and mineral soils (Taylor 1955). Similarly, **bog** formation requires the

same level of water, but is found in association with peat soils and only occurs in one area of the island, at Handspike point.

**Feldmark**, generally an open community of dwarf plants, mosses and lichens, is found in areas of high wind velocity and covers the greater part of the island above altitudes of 180 m (Kantvilas and Seppelt 1992). The vegetation cover varies depending on underlying rock substratum, drainage and exposure, and is composed predominantly of bryophytes such as *Ditrichum strictum* (Clifford 1953; Seppelt 2004).

#### Fuel contamination and the impacts of human activity

The relative isolation of Macquarie Island from population centres, as well as its extreme climatic and physical conditions, has greatly aided in its protection and conservation (Hall and Waulters 1994). However, like most other ecosystems on the earth, the environment of Macquarie Island has been modified by anthropogenic activities (Convey 2006; Tin *et al.* 2008). These activities have included: direct exploitation of resources such as penguin oil (Selkirk 1985; Bergstrom and Selkirk 2007), species introductions such as cats, rabbits and rodents (Copson and Whinam 2001; Whinam *et al.* 2005; Bergstrom *et al.* 2009), nature tourism (Hall and Waulters 1994), and accidental contamination and spills associated with research expeditions (Leszkiewicz 2001; Rayner *et al.* 2007; Schafer *et al.* 2007; Delille *et al.* 2007a). As a result, Macquarie Island has been left with a considerable legacy of marine and terrestrial contamination.

Fuel spill contamination is one of the most prevalent and damaging environmental issues within Antarctic and sub-Antarctic regions (Margesin and Schinner 1999; Snape *et al.* 2006; Rayner *et al.* 2007; Schafer *et al.* 2007). Petroleum hydrocarbons persist in the environment, are toxic and sometimes carcinogenic and can present significant health risks if they enter the food chain (Maila and Cloete 2002; Roy *et al.* 2005). Petroleum hydrocarbons are toxic to many soil invertebrates, and also impact plant growth and development, dissolving biological membranes and inhibiting seed germination (Chaudhry *et al.* 2005; Peng *et al.* 2009).

Several studies suggest that spills in higher latitude ecosystems are significantly more damaging, and have greater long term effects, than spills at lower latitudes, e.g. the *Exon Valdez* 

4

oil tanker spill in Alaska (Simpson et al. 1995; Delille et al. 2002a; Braddock et al. 2003; Snape et al. 2006). This is largely due to the reduced temperature, water availability, nitrogen and oxygen levels in soil, all of which reduce natural degradation rates and the processing rates and efficiency of indigenous hydrocarbon degrading micro-organisms (Aislabie et al. 2001; 2006). Low temperatures also decrease the viscosity of oil and fuels, reducing the volatilisation of toxic short-chain alkanes and increasing their water solubility (Margesin and Schinner 1999). Volatile oil fractions in high latitude environments therefore persist for longer and the offsite migration of fuel or oil is relatively fast. Low temperatures also limit the activity of hydrocarbon degrading micro-organisms which leads to a reduced rate of natural attenuation (intrinsic bioremediation; Delille and Pelletier 2002b; Zekri and Chaalal 2005). In contrast to some sites closer to the poles (Ferguson et al. 2004), subpolar sites are limited by excess, rather than lack of, water (Rayner et al. 2007). This can lead to soils that are highly water-logged, and thus oxygen deficient. Furthermore, high levels of rainfall leach nitrogen from already poor sub-Antarctic soil (Walworth et al. 2007b), making nitrogen most often the limiting factor for hydrocarbon biodegradation in cold region soils (Mohn and Stewart 2000; Braddock et al. 2003). As a result, higher latitude regions impacted by hydrocarbon contamination experience a prolonged ecosystem recovery.

Several studies have investigated the effects of fuel spills at Macquarie Island. Impacts on marine communities were still seen one year after an oil spill from a tanker (*Nella Dan*) that ran aground on the island in 1987 (Simpson *et al.* 1995; Smith and Simpson 1998). In terrestrial habitats, Rayner *et al.* (2007) estimated that the rate of natural biodegradation of hydrocarbons from a spill on Macquarie Island was as low as 10 - 20 mg/kg soil per day. This rate is significantly lower than hydrocarbon degradation rates reported for soils in tropical and temperate regions (Merkl *et al.* 2005b; Wang *et al.* 2008). This research suggests that, if left untreated, even minor to moderate fuel spills could take tens to hundreds of years before natural attenuation can reduce the petroleum to environmentally acceptable concentrations (< 500 mg fuel per kg/soil; Rayner *et al.* 2007; Walworth *et al.* 2007a).

Human activities associated with the research station on Macquarie Island are heavily reliant on fossil fuels. During the cycle of transportation, storage and usage of the fuel, several accidental spills have occurred (Bergstrom and Selkirk 2007; Tin *et al.* 2008). Special Antarctic

Blend (SAB) is the main type of fuel used in on the Island as it allows vehicles and machinery to function at low temperatures. The majority of fuel contamination is associated with the storage of fuel, or occurs during the station's refuelling activities (Smith 2000; Bergstrom and Selkirk 2007; Rayner *et al.* 2007).

Fuel spills have occurred in the range of approximately  $100 - 10\ 000$  L, but three substantial plumes near the station on Macquarie Island have been identified as the sites of most concern (Rayner *et al.* 2007). Two of these plumes are located at the Main Power House, and one at the Fuel Farm (Figure 1.2).

An initial assessment of the soil contamination at Macquarie Island station was conducted by Deprez *et al.* in 1994. This study identified both spills at the Main Power House and the Fuel Farm, where fuel is stored, as highly contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons. Eight 35 000 L bulk fuel tanks are situated at the Fuel Farm and while no spills at this site have been recorded, it is postulated that a spill may have occurred in the vicinity during 1988 (Australian Antarctic Division 2007). Deprez *et al.* (1994) recorded total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) up to 3 500 mg/kg at the soil surface. In a more recent study Rayner *et al.* (2007) showed that soil at the site had an average concentration of 800 mg/kg over an affected area of 760 m<sup>2</sup>, and contained approximately 600 metric tons of low to moderately contaminated sandy soil.

The Main Power House was first contaminated in 1975 by an overflow of the settling tanks (Australian Antarctic Division 2007). No record of the volume of fuel spilt was recorded, but Deprez *et al.* (1994) reported that, similar to the Fuel Farm, the site contained up to 3 500 mg/kg of TPH in the soil. Concentrations of 2 800 mg/kg were recorded by Rayner *et al.* in 2007, over an area of 110 m<sup>2</sup> resulting in approximately 100 metric tons of contaminated soil.



Figure 1.2 Location of the two main contaminated areas on Macquarie Island. Adapted from Wasley *et al.* (2009) and Rayner *et al.* (2008).

The most recent spill at Macquarie Island occurred at the Main Power House in 2002. This area has an average fuel concentration of 7 000 mg/kg over an area of 220 m<sup>2</sup>, resulting in approximately 180 metric tons of contaminated soil (Rayner *et al.* 2007). This is classified as a high level of contamination (Riser-Roberts 1998). Remediation of these sites is necessary as past

studies have shown the inadequacy of natural attenuation in areas at such low latitudes (Snape *et al.* 2006; Schafer *et al.* 2007; Delille *et al.* 2007b).

#### **1.2 Environmental Remediation**

The constant increase of environmental contamination by anthropogenic wastes and human activities has resulted in a global effort to devise methods of remediating sites which pose a threat to human health or to the environment. Although there have been many success stories in relation to environmental remediation, the process can sometimes be costly, time consuming and has, on occasion, caused more harm than good (Paine *et al.* 1996).

Traditional remediation techniques work to either 'decontaminate' the soil or to 'stabilise' the contaminants within it (Cunningham *et al.* 1995). This is achieved by a range of techniques based on physical, chemical or biological processes that can be broadly classified as either *in situ* or *ex situ*. *In situ* techniques include those in which the soil is remediated on site without the need for excavation or re-disposal. In contrast *ex situ* techniques require the contaminated soil to be excavated for treatment either on or off site (Table 1.1; Riser-Roberts 1998; Khan *et al.* 2000; Boulding and Ginn 2004). *Ex situ* techniques are, in general, less favourable than *in situ* techniques due to their invasive impact on the environment and their high cost (Cunningham *et al.* 1995).

In situ techniques	Ex situ techniques
Physical/Chemical processes	Physical/Chemical processes
• air sparging (currently under investigation at Macquarie Island)	<ul><li>soil washing</li><li>thermal treatment</li></ul>
hydrolysis	• chemical extraction
• steam injection	
Biological processes	Biological processes
• bioventing	• bioreactors
• bioremediation	• bio piles

**Table 1.1** Examples of traditional treatment methods for contaminated soil (Riser-Roberts 1998).

#### **Remediation in cold climates**

The success of remediation is heavily reliant on the nature of the contaminant(s) and on the environmental conditions in which it is applied (Chaudhry *et al.* 2005). In the case of cold regions, such as Macquarie Island, the need for active remediation has been demonstrated because of the slow natural attenuation rates which result in contaminant concentrations remaining high in the environment for many years (Snape *et al.* 2006; Delille *et al.* 2007; Rayner *et al.* 2007).

Due to the environmental conditions on Macquarie Island, and restrictions on disturbance and changes to the environment, the application of a number of traditional *ex situ* techniques for soils contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons, such as bioslurry reactors, 'bio piles' and chemical extractions (Riser-Roberts 1998; Aislabie *et al.* 2001; Boulding and Ginn 2004), are not possible. In addition, the success of these methods is limited, due to low temperatures and variable water distributions on Macquarie Island (Simpson *et al.* 1995; Schafer *et al.* 2007; Snape *et al.* 2008).

The selection of a remediation strategy to use at a site is usually based on a balance between the cost of the treatment and the time required for the remediation to occur (Snape *et al.* 2008). Both treatment cost and duration increase in cold regions as compared to temperate regions (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Cost-time relationship for soil remediation options suitable for petroleum contaminants (Modified after Reynolds *et al.* 1998).

The most common, and quickest, remediation strategy used in Antarctic regions is the *ex situ* 'dig and haul' method where the contaminated soil is excavated mechanically and shipped back to the home country for treatment and disposal (Aislabie *et al.* 2001). In Antarctic and sub-Antarctic regions however, this technique is expensive, with estimated costs from Antarctica being approximately US\$4 000/metric ton (Rayner *et al.* 2007; Snape *et al.* 2008). In addition, the ecological consequences and effects on terrestrial sub-Antarctic ecosystems of this method, which removes vast amounts of soil, may be significant and has not been assessed scientifically (Aislabie *et al.* 2001). For example, 'dig and haul' techniques can generate extensive changes to the chemical, physical and biological characteristics of the soil and may cause significantly more damage to fragile sub-Antarctic environments than if the spill were left undisturbed. This is

evident in an assessment of hydrocarbon contamination on Heard Island by Stark *et al.* (2003), which deemed 'dig and haul' remediation techniques inappropriate with reference to the obligations of the Madrid Protocol. Under Annex III (Waste Disposal and Waste Management) Article 1.5 of Madrid Protocol, Australia is legally bound not to dispose of wastes in such a way that:

'the removal of any structure or waste material in circumstances where the removal by any practical portion would result in greater adverse environmental impacts than leaving the structure or waste material in its existing place'

With this goal in mind, more sophisticated response options are needed in order to successfully remediate the three petroleum spills identified on Macquarie Island.

#### Possible remediation strategies for sub-Antarctica

There are numerous sites contaminated by petroleum hydrocarbons in the sub-Antarctic (Aislabie *et al.* 2001). Studies by Stark *et al.* (2003) at Heard Island suggest *in situ* procedures as the most appropriate clean up option for sub-Antarctic islands. Possible *in situ* strategies for cold climate soils have been explored in studies by Snape *et al.* (2008), and include bioremediation.

Bioremediation involves the use of micro-organisms (mainly bacteria) to destroy or transform hazardous contaminants through their metabolism (Riser-Roberts 1998). Field experiments by Delille *et al.* (2002a; 2003; 2007a), and Coulon *et al.* (2004) on the sub-Antarctic Kerguelen Archipelago found evidence of indigenous hydrocarbon-degrading micro-organisms with the potential for rapid biodegradation of hydrocarbons in soil. The presence of indigenous hydrocarbon-degrading species is essential as the Antarctic Treaty prohibits the importation of foreign organisms into the Antarctic region (Bunt and Rovira 1988; Aislabie *et al.* 2001). Coulon *et al.* (2004) also found that the efficacy of bioremediation increased significantly when the soil was treated with slow release fertilizer or fish composts, however, some remaining product residues had relatively high toxicity.

The success of *in situ* bioremediation in the sub-Antarctic is predominately dependent on contaminant type and substratum characteristics. While Coulon and Delille (2006) reported successful remediation, Walworth *et al.* (2007a) found bioremediation was inhibited in sub-polar

regions where nitrogen levels were below 1 200 mg N/kg H<sub>2</sub>O. This poses a potential problem for many contaminated cold region soils, which are often nitrogen deficient (Rayner *et al.* 2007), except in areas that receive substantial inputs from animal sources (Erskine *et al.* 1998). Furthermore, the biodegradation of certain organic petroleum compounds is restricted due to their recalcitrant nature and, with the exception of naphthalene, by their low solubility and strong absorption potential (Banks *et al.* 2000; Smith *et al.* 2006; Euliss *et al.* 2008). Once in soil, hydrocarbons show little to no volatilisation, are generally immobile, and are very slow to degrade (McNicoll and Baweja 1995; Smith *et al.* 2006; Schröder *et al.* 2008). Studies have shown that microbial bioremediation alone can take up to four years to degrade relatively small concentrations of contaminant and is not sufficient to obtain a complete return to near pristine conditions in sub-Antarctic soil (Delille *et al.* 2007a).

Other *in situ* remedial techniques considered for the sub-Antarctic include bioventing, which is routinely used in sub-Arctic North America, including Alaska and Canada (Filler *et al.* 2006). Bioventing involves oxygenation and warming of the contaminated soil through the vertical injection of air into the sub surface (Riser-Roberts 1998; Dupont 2006). Available hydrocarbons are volatilised and removed via strategically placed vertical extraction wells. The advantages of bioventing include a 10 000 times higher rate of gas diffusion than that of solutes, an increased rate of air diffusion providing oxygen to micro-organisms, and an increased rate of volatilisation of oil which improves and unifies the distribution of oil on the surface and in the aggregates (Riser-Roberts 1998). However, a number of disadvantages of this treatment restrict its application. Bioventing can alter ground freezing and is usually limited to the thaw season. The continuous airflow can also lead to desiccation of the soil, reducing moisture and nutrients that are vital for the stimulation of micro-organisms (Hoeppel *et al.* 1991).

Landfarming has also been used extensively as a remedial treatment in cold regions such as Alaska, Canada, Sweden, The Netherlands and Denmark (Riser-Roberts 1998; Snape *et al.* 2008). Several studies, however, have shown mixed results in Antarctic and Arctic climates (McCarthy *et al.* 2004). Landfarming involves spreading out contaminated soil to a thin layer (between 0.3-1.0 m thick) and regularly tilling (ventilating) the soil, as well as mixing the soil with a range of nutrients contained in fertilizers (Sanscartier *et al.* 2009). During this process, hydrocarbons may be lost via volatilisation or bioremediation (Paudyn *et al.* 2008). The technique is relatively simple and low cost, however, it is encumbered by its sensitivity to weather conditions, low rates of degradation in cold conditions and its potential for contaminating ground water through leachate (Riser-Roberts 1998).

While detailed studies of petroleum contamination at Macquarie Island have been presented (Deprezer *et al.* 1994 and Rayner *et al.* 2008) only one study has evaluated possible remedial treatments for the island (Australian Antarctic Division 2007). The strategies differed between the three spill locations and included methods such as permeable reactive barriers, nutrient addition, air sparging and generating biopiles. Past attempts to remediate the spills at Macquarie Island have included the use of aeration in the form of both air sparging and 'microbioventing'' (Rayner *et al.* 2008). Air sparging was unsuccessful as it penetrated the shallow water table which led to channel development. In contrast, microbioventing successfully aerated a wide area of soil and removed considerable quantities of hydrocarbon from the water fraction. This method however is costly and invasive, and the technical equipment used requires constant monitoring and servicing. Further research is therefore needed to devise a model of remediation that is both cost effective and environmentally sensitive.

#### **1.3** Phytoremediation

Over recent years, scientists have increasingly looked to plants as a means of counterbalancing the negative anthropogenic impacts of contamination and assimilation of contaminants in the environment (Cunningham and Ow 1996; Harvey *et al.* 2002; Roy *et al.* 2005; Wang *et al.* 2008). The presence of vegetation has been shown to have positive effects on contaminated soil, leading to a greater rate of degradation, removal, and mineralisation of wastes than in non-vegetated soils (Gaskin *et al.* 2008; Liste and Prutz 2006; Banks *et al.* 2003; Delille *et al.* 2003; Macek *et al.* 2000). This advance toward environmental restoration has been termed phytoremediation (*phyto* – plant, *remediation* – to recover).

Phytoremediation involves the use of vascular plants, fungi, and algae to remove and control wastes or to augment waste breakdown through micro-organisms in the plant's rhizosphere (McCutcheon and Schnoor 2003; Chen *et al.* 2004). The technique was originally used as a method to treat waste water and contaminated ground water via a series of constructed wetlands, reed bed and floating plant systems (Cunningham *et al.* 1995). More recently the use

of phytoremediation has been expanded to address a larger range of contaminants in soils, such as heavy metals, hydrocarbons and atmospherically transported pollutants (Khan *et al.* 2000).

#### Advantages and disadvantages of phytoremediation

Phytoremediation is an attractive alternative to physical and chemical remediation techniques. Phytoremediation is a "clean" technology that has the ability to operate without the aid of an external power source. Plants can act as self-engineers, working independently to remediate a site by controlling the local biochemistry, rhizosphere and microclimate in order to continually remove or break down contaminants from the soil (Ensley 2000; McCutcheon and Schnoor 2003). Phytoremediation is therefore both low maintenance and low cost (Ensley 2000) and can be used on a much larger scale than other treatment technologies (Macek et al. 2000). It may prove ideal for sub-Antarctic locations where remoteness restricts access and ongoing monitoring and maintenance of equipment. Currently, up to \$50 billion per year is spent on environmental clean-up worldwide (Pilon-Smits 2005). Phytoremediation is on average tenfold cheaper than traditional techniques such as soil excavation and soil washing or burning (Pilon-Smits 2005). Additionally, phytoremediation carries little risk to the environment and human health. The in situ application of phytoremediation creates minimal disturbance to the contaminated site (Ensley 2000) and increases public acceptance due to plant aesthetics (Tucker and Shaw 2000). Non-intrusive remedial techniques such as phytoremediation are paramount in sub-Antarctic areas, including Macquarie Island, where traditional techniques are deemed too invasive to the fragile ecosystem.

Nevertheless, phytoremediation has a number of disadvantages that may constrain its application on Macquarie Island. While cost is phytoremediation's greatest advantage, time is its greatest disadvantage (see Figure 1.3; Table 1.2). Phytoremediation is habitually slower than other technologies and is generally regarded as a long term remediation strategy to be used in combination with others (Cunningham *et al.* 1995; Khan 2005). Estimates have predicted that 18 – 60 months may be needed for full site recovery in some cases (Ensley 2000) and in cold climates such as the sub-Antarctic, duration is likely to be increased. In addition, plants used for phytoremediation must be able to tolerate exposure to high levels of contaminants without showing any toxic effects (Macek *et al.* 2000; Khan *et al.* 2000). As the introduction of potentially suitable plant species is prohibited on Macquarie Island, appropriate species must be

found within the native flora. Finally, phytoremediation is limited to the depths of roots, and hence may need to be coupled with other remedial technologies in cases where contaminant filtration is deeper than can be reached by the plant (Pilon-Smits 2005).

Table 1.2	Advantages	and disad	vantages of	f phytoren	nediation.
	U		0	1 2	

Advantages	Disadvantages
Low cost	• It may take longer than other technologies
Low maintenance	• May not be applicable to mixed wastes
• Minimal disruption to the environment	• Only applicable to surface soils
• Independent of external energy supply	• Lack of recognised economic performance
• Public acceptance: aesthetically pleasing	data
• In situ application avoids excavation	• Formation of vegetation may be limited by
• Applicable to a variety of contaminants	extremes of environmental toxicity and climate
• There is no need for disposal sites	
• Can be used during site investigation or after	
closure	

#### Phytoremediation of petroleum hydrocarbons

The application of phytoremediation is governed by the environment and the class of contaminant in the soil (Allard *et al.* 2000; Parrish *et al.* 2005; Alarcon *et al.* 2008). Organic and inorganic contaminants have fundamentally different chemical and physical properties and are therefore removed via different phytoremediation strategies (Figure 1.4). The chemical characteristics of organic contaminants, such as petroleum hydrocarbons, means that they are less readily incorporated by plants and therefore mechanisms for removal are usually less understood than for inorganic compounds (Hou *et al.* 2001; Chen *et al.* 2004). The presence of vegetation generally accelerates the biodegradation of organic compounds via three techniques: phytodegradation, phytovolatilization or rhizodegradation. All three systems rely on modifying the contaminant within the soil, and usually achieve this via a synergistic relationship between the plants and their allied microbiological communities (Sicilliano and Germida 1998; Alkorta and Garbisu 2001). This is in contrast to inorganic contaminants, as they are unchallengeable at an elemental level and plants must therefore work to either phytoextract the contaminant, rhizofiltrate it, or phytostabalize the contaminant within the soil (Cunningham and Ow 1996;

Philips *et al.* 2008). Detailed descriptions of these processes are outside the scope of this study, see reviews by McCutcheon and Schnoor (2000), Pilon-Smits (2005) and Wensel (2008) for further details.



**Figure 1.4** Phytoremediation strategies employed for various contaminant types. Refer to Wensel (2008) for further details.

Over the past decade, substantial progress has been made in applying phytoremediation to inorganic pollutants such as heavy metals (Khan *et al.* 2000; Chen *et al.* 2004; Fischerova *et al.* 2006) and organic pollutants such as poly-aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), nutrients and landfill leachate (Maila and Cloete 2002; Roy *et al.* 2005; Schröder *et al.* 2008). Most studies have focused on the ability of plants to hyperaccumulate inorganic heavy metals from soils (Macek *et al.* 2000; Ensley 2000; Khan 2005; Kvesitadze *et al.* 2006), with relatively few exploring the potential of plants to remediate soils contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons, especially in cold climates (Alkorta and Garbisu 2001).

From a detailed study of the literature, rhizodegradation is predicted to be the most likely strategy used by plants on Macquarie Island to clean up sub-Antarctic sites contaminated with SAB. This form of phytoremediation involves an interaction between plants and micro-organisms and is referred to as 'Rhizoremediation', 'Rhizodegradation' or the 'Rhizosphere effect' (Anderson *et al.* 1993; Newman and Reynolds 2004). The 'rhizosphere' is the zone where roots exert a strong influence on the soil and it extends approximately 1 mm from the plant roots (Banks *et al.* 2003; Olson *et al.* 2003). This area of the soil has increased micro-organisms

compared to any other region of the surrounding soil (Nichols *et al.* 1996; Phillips *et al.* 2008). The presence of such large microbial numbers are due, in part, to plant exudates which serve as a source of energy, carbon and nitrogen (Siciliano *et al.* 2003; Euliss *et al.* 2008; Kovar 2009). During rhizodegradation the plant provides these root exudates (such as enzymes, simple sugars, amino acids, aliphatics and aromatics) to stimulate the growth of root-associated micro-organisms (Khan 2005; Gaskin *et al.* 2008; Phillips *et al.* 2008). Root growth can also perturb deeper soil, causing better oxygen diffusion and water infiltration, changing the carbon dioxide concentration, pH, redox potential, osmotic potential, moisture content and oxygen concentration of the soil which leads to an environment better able to support high microbial biomass (Lin *et al.* 2008). In return, microbes can reduce the phytotoxicity of the contaminants in the soil or augment the degradative capacity of the plant (Sicilliano and Germida 1998). This mutualistic relationship between plants and microbes in the rhizosphere therefore leads to accelerated degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in the presence of plants (Maila and Cloete 2002; Newman and Reynolds 2004; Zhuang *et al.* 2007; Peng *et al.* 2009).

Phytoremediation of petroleum contaminants has proven to be a feasible method for the removal of petroleum hydrocarbons from surface soil in both growth room studies and field trials in natural conditions (Hou *et al.* 2001; Lalande *et al.* 2003; White *et al.* 2006; Liste and Pruz 2006; Gaskin *et al.* 2008). In a growth room study, Peng *et al.* (2009) observed generally greater remediation efficiency in soil planted with *Mirabilis jalapa* L. than in un-vegetated soils. Euliss *et al.* (2008) found that sediments planted with sedge (*Carex stricta*), switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) and gamagrass (*Tripsacum dactyloides*) had significantly less residual total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) after one year of growth (70% reduction) than soils containing no plants (20% reduction). Similarly, Chen *et al.* (2003) demonstrated that switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) and tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea*) mineralised hydrocarbons by 30% and 38% respectively, compared to 4.3% in the unplanted control. Palmroth *et al.* (2002) found phytoremediation of diesel fuel using a legume mixture (White clover, *Trifolium repens* and Pea, *Pisum sativum*) to be successful in sub-Arctic soils, and concluded that phytoremediation is a viable, low-cost remedial technology for diesel contaminated soils in sub-Arctic regions.

Coupling phytoremediation with other physical and chemical processes already in place on Macquarie Island (such as nutrient additions and air sparging) may be an effective solution to the issue of SAB contamination within this region. There is evidence to suggest that a multitechnique approach, involving phyto-oxidation, volatilisation, and microbial remediation coupled with phytoremediation, can be twice as effective in reducing TPH levels as landfarming, 50% more effective than bioremediation, and 45% more effective than phytoremediation treatments alone (Huang *et al.* 2004; 2005; Lin *et al.* 2008). However, before this option can be explored, the identification of a suitable species for phytoremediation, and an assessment of its ability to reduce SAB concentrations above natural microbial and mechanical processes, needs to be undertaken.

#### **1.4** Aims and thesis structure

This thesis presents the first experimental investigation into the viability of phytoremediation in the sub-Antarctic. Phytoremediation of Macquarie Island fuel spills using the native grass *Poa foliosa* was assessed in a laboratory trial. The aims of this thesis were to (1) investigate the tolerance of *P. foliosa* to hydrocarbons, (2) evaluate if the presence of *P. foliosa* significantly increases the microbial populations within the soil and (3) assess the ability of *P. foliosa* to assist with biodegradation of hydrocarbons in the soil. The thesis is divided into 4 chapters as follows:

**Chapter 1:** Introduction to Macquarie Island, possible remediation techniques for petroleum contamination in cold climates and an overview of phytoremediation.

**Chapter 2:** The tolerance of *P. foliosa* to a range of hydrocarbons is paramount if this species is to be used in phytoremediation strategies. A number of physical parameters were evaluated to assess plant health over time in plants exposed to a range of hydrocarbon concentrations. These include non-destructive techniques such as chlorophyll florescence measurements and destructive techniques such as leaf length, width and area, shoot and root biomass, and chlorophyll pigment extraction.

**Chapter 3:** The rhizosphere of plants harbours populations of microbes. This chapter describes investigations to determine whether the presence of *P. foliosa* increases microbial abundance in the soil. Most Probable Number assays were used to compare planted and unplanted replicates across a range of hydrocarbon concentrations through time. The effect of *P. foliosa* on

hydrocarbons in the soil was assessed by measuring the total petroleum hydrocarbon (TPH) concentration of both planted and unplanted replicates over time and between concentrations.

**Chapter 4:** This chapter provides a synthesis of the major findings of this study and makes recommendations for future research.

## Chapter 2

## The tolerance of the sub-Antarctic grass *Poa foliosa* to Special Antarctic Blend (SAB) fuel, and the effects of petroleum hydrocarbons on plant health and productivity

#### 2.1 Introduction

Phytoremediation has been found to be a feasible approach for the *in situ* cleanup of surface soils contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons (Fiorenza *et al.* 2000; Banks *et al.* 2003; Wang *et al.* 2008). Plant physiology, its tolerance to the physico-chemical nature of the contaminant, and its ability to thrive in the given environment, all greatly influence a plant's remedial efficiency (Siciliano *et al.* 2003; Gaskin *et al.* 2008). Precursor studies to identify plant tolerance to hydrocarbon contamination in sub-Antarctic conditions are therefore necessary in the selection of appropriate species for the successful application of phytoremediation strategies in this region.

A growing body of literature suggests that the basic composition of a plant dictates its ability to promote the degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons (Hutchinson *et al.* 2003; Liste and Prutz 2006; Phillips *et al.* 2009). Certain plant characteristics, such as a large fibrous root system, fast growth, large biomass both above and below ground, the presence of root exudates and numerous microbial interactions enhance a plant's phytoremediation potential (April and Sims 1990; Cunningham and Ow 1996; Hou *et al.* 2001). Families of plants that displayed these characteristics, such as the Poaceae family, were found to be the most effective at reducing hydrocarbon concentrations in soils in a growth room study that compared the remedial potential of eight plant families (Olson *et al.* 2007). Similarly, a recent study by Euliss *et al.* (2008) found a significant reduction in petroleum hydrocarbon concentration in soils planted with sedge (*Carex stricta*), switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) and gamagrass (*Tripsacum dactyloides*). Whereas, willow (*Salix exigua*) and poplar (*Populus spp.*) species did not significantly reduce soil hydrocarbon concentrations. The plant species used can therefore greatly influence the effectiveness of phytoremediation. This being said, the basic precondition for any successful

remediation species includes the plants ability to proliferate in the presence of high levels of petroleum contaminants (Frick *et al.* 1999; Huang *et al.* 2004).

In general, the existence of petroleum hydrocarbons in soil has a negative impact on plant growth and development (Joner *et al.* 2004; Gaskin *et al.* 2008). Growth is inhibited with increasing hydrocarbon concentration (Maila and Cloete 2002; Smith *et al.* 2006), or slowed to the point that plants do not produce meaningful biomass for successful remediation (McNicoll and Baweja 1995; Kvesitadze *et al.* 2006). Numerous studies have investigated the response of an assortment of species to various concentrations of hydrocarbons, with the general consensus that grass species display a certain level of resistance (Gunther *et al.* 1996; Banks *et al.* 2003; Huang *et al.* 2004; Liste and Prutz 2006; Gaskin *et al.* 2008; Wang *et al.* 2008). However, no research has explored hydrocarbon tolerance of grass species endemic to Macquarie Island.

The potential to use phytoremediation on Macquarie Island is compromised by the vast comparative climatic difference of sub-Antarctica compared to lower latitudes, coupled with stringent restrictions on species importations. Hence suitable climate and contaminant tolerant native species must be identified and, to my knowledge, no studies have been conducted on phytoremediation in the sub-Antarctic (Palmroth *et al.* 2002). In a study in which the phytoremediation potential of 39 sub-Arctic cold-tolerant plants was investigated, *Psoralea esculentu* (a legume species) and *Agropyron perctiniforme* (a grass species) were found to be the most tolerant to hydrocarbons, and the most promising for use in phytoremediation (Robson *et al.* 2003). These findings, coupled with the previously identified favourable physiological features, imply that Macquarie Island's largest endemic grass species, *Poa foliosa*, maybe a suitable candidate for phytoremediation in the sub-Antarctic region.

The object of this study was to determine the tolerance of *P. foliosa* to petroleum hydrocarbon contamination. The effects of hydrocarbons (SAB) on the health and growth of *P. foliosa* were examined by experimentally exposing plants to a range of concentration treatments over eight months. Biomass production, plant morphology, and maximal photosynthetic efficiency were all used as indicators of plant health. Maximal photosynthetic efficiency of PSII is a chlorophyll florescence signal that provides a useful gauge of plant stress (Krause and Weis 1991; Maxwell and Johnson 2000). The majority of healthy plants have a maximal

photosynthetic efficiency, measured as the variable over the maximal fluorescence  $F_v/F_m$ , of between 0.80 – 0.83 (Bjorkman and Demmig 1987).

The specific aims of this study were to 1) observe the sensitivity of *P. foliosa* to SAB, and 2) to determine the effects of exposure to different concentrations of hydrocarbons on the health, morphology and biomass of *P. foliosa*. It was hypothesised that exposure to higher concentrations of hydrocarbons in the soil would significantly decrease both the health and growth potential of *P. foliosa*. The null hypothesis was that hydrocarbon concentration would not affect the health and growth potential of *P. foliosa*.

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Study species

The sub-Antarctic native tussock grass *Poa foliosa* (Hook. f.; Figure 2.1) is widely distributed across the coastal zones of Macquarie Island and is most abundant on the upper beach slopes and raised coastal terraces (Seppelt 2004). It grows readily on the Isthmus (where Australia's research station is located; Figure 2.2), and surrounds the sites of SAB contamination. This species was selected for this study as it displays a number of the criteria of a potentially successful plant for phytoremediation with a deep (~0.5 m) fibrous root system, a large biomass and a fast growth rate (Clayton *et al.* 2002).



Figure 2.1 Poa foliosa in its natural habitat at Macquarie Island. Photograph taken by N. Grant.



Figure 2.2 Distribution of vegetation on the Isthmus of Macquarie Island. Adapted from Macquarie Island vegetation. Edition: 1. Australian Antarctic Division.

*Poa foliosa* can reach a height of 1.5 m with numerous leaf-blades, generally 15 - 40 cm long and 3 - 6 mm wide. It develops and spreads almost entirely by its complex rhizome system, resulting in the accumulation of an extremely dense mass of dead and living roots beneath the ground's surface, creating a pedestal of fibrous peat that supports the large crown of the plant (Ashton 1965). As much as one-third of the weight of the top of the plant is replaced in the first year following defoliation, indicating that the growth rate of *P. foliosa* is high despite the cold climatic conditions of Macquarie Island (Ashton 1965).

The life of the plant is cyclic, with four stages of development (Ashton 1965): 1) Pioneer Phase which includes seedlings; 2) Building Phase in which tussocks are beginning to form; 3) Mature Phase when the maximum height is reached; and 4) Degenerate Phase when the leaves become shorter and there is a substantial increase in the proportion of dead to living leaves. *Poa foliosa* can develop to the building phase in less than five to six years and can remain a mature or degenerate plant for approximately 50 years.

#### 2.2.2 Sampling procedure and experimental design

An eight-month laboratory study was done to evaluate the applicability of phytoremediation using *P. foliosa* to remediate petroleum spills in cold climates. Special Antarctic Blend (SAB) fuel was obtained from the Australian Antarctic Division (AAD) and used to spike the soil (Tasmanian Devils Dirt potting mix) at nominal concentrations of 1 000, 5 000, 10 000, 20 000 and 40 000 mg/kg in addition to the control. SAB was applied to the soil in 50 ml increments, during which the soil was continuously mixed in a large mechanical mixer. Following the addition of SAB, each treatment was mixed thoroughly for ten minutes to achieve homogeneity.

Two sets of five replicate pots, each containing approximately 1 L of soil, were prepared for each treatment. Five replicates at each concentration were planted with a single transplanted seedling, and the remaining five replicates were left unplanted (Figure 2.3). Seedlings of *P. foliosa* (Pioneer Phase) were obtained from the Royal Tasmanian Botanic Gardens on the 17<sup>th</sup> of October 2007. These plants germinated from the Botanical Gardens seed bank on the 3<sup>rd</sup> of June 2007 and were grown in conditions similar to a sub-Antarctic climate. The seedlings were randomly selected from the stock of plants and randomly assigned to pots using a random number generator table.



Figure 2.3 Planted and unplanted replicate pots.

All pots were kept in a temperature controlled growth room at 8°C ( $\pm$  1°C). The room was lit by eight incandescent lights and four high intensity growth lights which were programmed to a day/night photoperiod of 8.75/13.25 hours to simulate the average yearly natural daylight cycle on Macquarie Island. Pots of the same SAB concentration were stored together in group trays to prevent the volatiles released from affecting the concentration of different treatments (Figure 2.4). Planted and unplanted pots of the same concentration were randomly arranged in each tray and each tray was randomly placed on shelves within the growth room. Every three days, trays were rotated clockwise on the shelves and each pot was given ~30 ml of water. Foliar spray was also applied to ensure leaves maintained maximum health. Pots were allowed free drainage into individual pans, and the water collected was used to re-water the plant to minimise the loss of hydrocarbons from the soil.



Figure 2.4 Planted and unplanted replicates in grouped SAB concentration trays within the growth room.

An initial harvest was conducted at the start of the experiment and at two, four and eight months thereafter, for the 0, 1 000, 5 000, and 10 000 mg/kg treatments. Pots at concentrations of 20 000 and 40 000 mg/kg were only harvested at four and eight months. During each harvest, plant material was separated from the soil and kept in a refrigerator (4°C) prior to analysis. Soil
from each pot was homogenised and sub-sampled into samples which were kept in a refrigerator  $(4^{\circ}C)$  until analysed.

#### 2.2.3 Soil organic content

A 10 g soil sample of uncontaminated Tasmanian Devils Dirt potting mix was sieved to obtain the <2 mm fraction and milled for three minutes at 500 rpm. Five 500 mg sub-samples were then weighed into a pre-cleaned crucible and analysed for total carbon using a Shimadzu TOC – VCSH analyser (Shimadzu TOC analyser, Kyoto Japan) with solid state module attachment (SSM - 5000A).

#### 2.2.4 Chlorophyll fluorescence

Chlorophyll *a* fluorescence measurements were performed throughout the experiment at approximately bi-weekly (first two months) then monthly intervals (from two to eight months). Measurements were taken using a diving pulse-amplitude-modulated photosynthesis yield analyser (Diving-PAM, H. Walz Effeltrich, Germany). All plants were dark adapted for 20 minutes prior to measurements of maximum photosynthetic efficiency. After 10 minutes the PAM settings were optimised to the *P. foliosa* leaves to ensure maximum signal resolution for the species. All measurements were collected within two hours of midday. Four replicate measurements were taken per plant and, due to the leaf morphology of the species, five leaves adjacently banded together were required to gain a representative reading. The youngest fully expanded leaves were used, and measurements were taken approximately four cm from the base of the leaf blades.

#### 2.2.5 Leaf morphology

Prior to the destruction of plants for biomass estimates, the physical parameters of leaf morphology, including leaf length, width and area, were measured and recorded. Once separated from the soil, plants were placed inside individual plastic zip lock bags to retain moisture, and were kept in a refrigerator (4°C) for a maximum of one day before analyses were performed. Due to the extensive number of leaves per plant, a sub-sample of 30 leaves was measured. Once separated from the roots, shoots were mixed and laid out in a flat line on a bench surface. The first 30 leaves were then taken from the left hand side of the line. Leaves were separated from

the stems at the axil, and the length and width of each leaf was measured to the nearest millimetre.

The leaf surface area was determined by running each leaf through a Portable Leaf Area Meter (LI-COR Model LI-3000A Portable Leaf Area Meter, Lincoln, Na., USA). This system utilises a flat-bed digital scanner with light-emitting diodes (LED's) which are sequentially pulsed to examine the leaf. Each individual leaf was placed between two clear transparent sheets and spread out to maximise leaf surface area. The sheets were then placed in the scanner, and pulled through twice to obtain an average reading for surface area.

#### 2.2.6 Plant biomass

The above ground and below ground biomass was measured destructively. The total shoots and leaves from each plant were weighed to obtain a shoot wet biomass estimate. Roots were carefully washed over a 0.25 mm sieve using tap water to remove soil. Any displaced roots were extracted from the sieve. Roots were then blotted dry with paper towel, and weighed to obtain a root wet biomass. Shoot and root samples were then dried at 60°C for 72 hours, and reweighed to acquire dry biomass estimates which were used to calculate shoot to root ratios for each plant. The Mean Relative Growth Rate (MRGR) of shoots and roots was calculated based on the following equation (taken from South 1995):

MRGR =  $(\ln W_2 - \ln W_1)/(T_2 - T_1)$ 

Where  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  are the dry weight of shoot or root at  $T_1$  (two months) and  $T_2$  (four months) respectively, ln is the natural logarithm.

#### 2.2.7 Photosynthetic pigment extraction

Three leaves per plant were randomly selected for pigment extraction. Between 10 and 20 mg (wet weight) of photosynthetically active plant tissue, per leaf, was weighed, and instantly frozen at -80°C for a maximum of two months until further analysis. Each sample was ground to a fine powder using acid washed sand and liquid nitrogen in a mortar and pestle. A 0.5 ml aliquot of buffered 80% acetone (pH 7.8) was then added and the sample was ground further to achieve homogeneity. Samples were transferred to 2 ml Eppendorf tubes and combined with three further washings of the mortar and pestle (each of 0.5 ml) with the same solvent. Tubes were allowed to

stand in the freezer for a period of 24 hours, after which they were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 2500 rpm (in an Eppendorf 54153 D bench centrifuge). The supernatant was made up to 1.5 ml. Absorbance at wavelengths of 750, 646.6 and 663.6 nm was determined using a UV-Visible spectrophometer (Shimadzu UV-1691, UV-Vis Spectrophometer, Kyoto Japan). Total chlorophyll concentrations and chlorophyll *a/b* were determined using the equations of Porra *et al.* (1989).

#### 2.2.8 Statistical analysis

Raw data for each measured parameter from each treatment were analysed for significant differences. Prior to analysis, data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk W Test, and for homogeneity of variance using Cochran's C test. Square root transformations were used where needed to normalise the distribution of the data. Two extreme outliers were excluded from the chlorophyll a/b data. Outlier exclusion did not change the outcome of results.

Data were analysed using a general linear model in the statistical program JMP (Vol. 5.1 SAS Institute Inc., U.S.). Where the general linear models revealed significant interactions, Tukey HD *post hoc* tests were used to identify significantly different means. Trial analyses were run to test the power of a Tukey HD test on the selected data. Very few situations were found to have marginally failed to reject the null hypothesis which suggests that there are no problems from insufficient power.

For data sets larger than 900 observations, a Shapiro-Wilks W Test was often over sensitive in detecting data as non normal, even after data transformation. In these cases non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test were run, followed by pair wise Wilcoxon tests. The Wilcoxon p values were compared to sigma values obtained from a Bonferroni test.

Two-way ANOVA analysis between concentration treatments and time were not carried out due to uneven sampling numbers. However, in situations where no significant differences were found between concentration treatments 0 to 10 000 mg/kg (such as biomass), values were pooled and t-tests were used to examine the change between two and four months.

As a result of the plants extremely root bound state (Figure 2.5), data from the eight month harvest were not analysed since this state likely had a major influence on plant health.



Figure 2.5 Examples of the root bound state of plants at the eight month harvest.

# 2.3 Results

## 2.3.1 Soil organic content

Triplicate measurements gave an average soil organic content of 13.6  $\pm$  0.2% (mean  $\pm$  SD).

## 2.3.2 Morphology

## Leaf length

There was no difference in leaf length between SAB treatments at two months (Figure 2.6a). After four months exposure concentrations of SAB from 1 000 to 10 000 mg/kg were intermediate between the control and higher SAB treatments but not significantly lower than the control. At higher concentration treatments, 20 000 to 40 000 mg/kg, however, leaves were significantly shorter than the control (0 mg/kg; p = 0.0001; Table 2.1).



Initital nominal oncentration (mg/kg)

**Figure 2.6** Changes in the mean (a) leaf length, (b) leaf width and (c) leaf area of *P. foliosa* in response to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations for time intervals 0, 2 and 4 months. Data are means  $\pm$  SEM, n = 5. Columns with the same letter are not significantly different at p = 0.05. Different coloured letters above bars represent separate analyses.

<u>2 months</u>				<u>4 months</u>			
Source	df	F ratio	p value	Source	df	F ratio	p value
Length	3	2.156	0.092	Length*	5	26.8	0.0001
Width*	3	42.35	0.0001	Width*	5	94.5	0.0001
Area	3	1.48	0.218	Area*	5	66.7	0.0001
Error	596			Error	924		
Total	599			Total	929		

**Table 2.1** Effect of SAB fuel on the morphological characteristics of the species *P. foliosa* following 2 and 4 months exposure. One-way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis (p < 0.05), \* indicates Kruskal-Wallis test.

#### Leaf width

At two months, leaf width was significantly wider at concentration treatments of 5 000 and 10 000 mg/kg, when compared to 0 and 1 000 mg/kg (Figure 2.6b; p = 0.0001; Table 2.1). After a four months exposure, leaf width was variable between treatments, similar to the results found for leaf length at the same time interval (Figure 2.6a,b). Again, leaf widths at concentration treatments between 1 000 to 10 000 mg/kg were intermediate between the control and higher SAB treatments but not significantly lower than the control. At higher concentration treatments, 20 000 to 40 000 mg/kg, however, leaves were significantly thinner than the control (0 mg/kg; p = 0.0001; Table 2.1).

#### Leaf area

No significant change was detected in regard to the average leaf area of *P. foliosa* across differing hydrocarbon treatments at two months (Figure 2.6c), however after four months, leaf area, displayed a similar pattern as found for leaf length and width at the same time interval, where leaf area at concentrations between 1 000 to 10 000 mg/kg were intermediate between the control and higher SAB treatments but not significantly lower than the control. Leaf area significantly declined (p = 0.0001) at concentration treatments higher than 10 000 mg/kg when compared to the control (Figure 2.6c; Table 2.1).

#### **Root structure**

Although no quantitative analyses were undertaken on root structure, root structure differed qualitatively between concentration treatments after four and again after eight months exposure. The roots of plants in the control were composed of a distinctly larger quantity of fine fibrous roots and fewer coarse roots than those in the hydrocarbon treatments, especially in the highest concentrations tested of 20 000 and 40 000 mg/kg after eight months (Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.7 Root structure of *P. foliosa* exposed to (a) 0 and (b) 40 000 mg/kg SAB after eight months.

#### 2.3.3 Biomass

#### Shoot and root dry weight biomass

Root and shoot dry weight comparisons between treatments indicated that the presence of hydrocarbons in the soil did not impair the normal growth of *P. foliosa* (Figure 2.8a,b). At both two and four months, no significant change was detected in regard to the mean above ground dry biomass of *P. foliosa* across differing hydrocarbon treatments (Figure 2.8a; Table 2.2). Similarly, the below ground biomass data showed no significant difference between SAB concentrations at either time interval (Figure 2.8b; Table 2.2). Both root and shoot dry biomass increased significantly from two to four months between treatments 0 to 10 000 mg/kg (p = 0.05; Appendix A).



**Figure 2.8** Changes in the mean (a) shoot dry biomass, (b) root dry biomass, and (c) shoot/root ratio of *P*. *foliosa* in response to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations, for time intervals 0, 2 and 4 months. Data are means  $\pm$  SEM, n = 5. Columns with the same letter are not significantly different at p = 0.05. Different coloured letters above bars represent separate analyses.

<u>2 months</u>					4	1 months	
Source	df	F ratio	p value	Source	df	F ratio	p value
Shoots	3	2.017	0.152	Shoots	5	0.949	0.467
Roots	3	1.578	0.233	Roots	5	1.09	0.391
s/r ratio	3	1.80	0.187	s/r ratio	5	1.96	0.12
Error	16			Error	24		
Total	19			Total	29		

**Table 2.2** Effect of SAB fuel on shoot and root biomass of *P. foliosa* following 2 and 4 months exposure. One-way ANOVA (p < 0.05).

#### **Shoot/Root Ratio**

No significant differences between treatments were detected in the shoot to root ratio of plants exposed to different hydrocarbon concentration at either two or four months (Table 2.2). However, the ratio of shoots to roots between treatments 0 to 10 000 mg/kg decreased significantly from two to four months (p = 0.05; Appendix A).

#### Mean Relative Growth Rate

Both the shoots and roots displayed a positive increase in mean relative growth rate (MRGR) from the control to the highest treatment concentration of 10 000 mg/kg of SAB, however this change was not significant (Table 2.3; Appendix B). The MRGR for plant shoots and roots was highest in the 10 000 mg/kg treatment. The shoot MRGR was lowest in soil contaminated at 1 000 mg/kg, whereas root MRGR was lowest at 0 and 5 000 mg/kg.

**Table 2.3** Means ( $\pm$ SE) of the relative growth rates (MRGR) for shoot and root of *P. foliosa* at different levels of SAB (petroleum) soil contamination, using data from the two and four month harvest.

	Mean relative growth rate (g/month)				
Concentration (mg/kg)	<b>Shoot</b> (n = 5)	<b>Root</b> (n = 5)			
0	0.74 (± 0.14)	$0.37 (\pm 0.08)$			
1000	$0.60 (\pm 0.25)$	0.39 (± 0.12)			
5000	0.70 (± 0.30)	0.37 (± 0.10)			
10000	0.80 (± 0.09)	0.46 (± 0.06)			

#### 2.3.4 Photosynthetic efficiency (F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub>)

In general the photosynthetic efficiency  $(F_v/F_m)$  of *P. foliosa* was high throughout the experiment (Figure 2.9) and showed no significant difference between hydrocarbon treatments at either the two (60 day) or four month (120 day) sampling interval (Figure 2.10; Table 2.4). However, Fv/Fm did vary over time, declining to 0.6 in all treatment between 50 and 65 days, after which it increased to a level higher than the initial control (Figure 2.9).



**Figure 2.9** Changes in the mean  $F_v/F_m$  over time, n = 35 and error bars represent one standard error about the mean. Vertical lines represent harvest periods at 0, 2 and 4 months.



**Figure 2.10** Changes in the mean  $F_v/F_m$  of *P. foliosa* replicates in response to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations, for time intervals 0, 2 and 4 months. Data are means  $\pm$  SEM, n = 5. Columns with the same letter are not significantly different at p = 0.05. Different coloured letters above bars represent separate analyses.

Table 2.4 Effect of SA	3 fuel on shoot and root biomass of P. foliosa following 2 and 4 months expe	osure.
One-way ANOVA (p <	0.05).	

	2 months			4	4 months		
Source	df	F ratio	p value	Source	df	F ratio	p value
F <sub>v</sub> /F <sub>m</sub>	3	0.570	0.640	F <sub>v</sub> /F <sub>m</sub>	5	0.293	0.911
Error	17			Error	24		
Total	20			Total	29		

#### 2.3.5 Photosynthetic pigment results

#### **Total chlorophyll content**

The total chlorophyll content of *P. foliosa* at SAB concentrations of 5 000 mg/kg was significantly lower than 0 treatments at both two (p = 0.037) and four (p = 0.02) months (Figure 2.11a; Table 2.5). All other concentration treatments were intermittent between 0 and 5 000 mg/kg.

#### Chlorophyll *a/b* ratio

The mean chlorophyll a/b ratio (chl a/b) of *P. foliosa* showed a tendency to increase with increasing SAB concentration at two months (Figure 2.11b), however, no significant differences in chl a/b between concentrations were detected at this time. At the four month harvest, no difference in the mean chl a/b ratio was observed between treatments (Figure 2.11b, Table 2.5).



**Figure 2.11** Changes in the mean (a) total chlorophyll content ( $\mu$ mol/gfw) and (b) chlorophyll *a/b* ratio of *P. foliosa* in response to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations, for time intervals 0, 2 and 4 months. Data are means  $\pm$  SEM, n = 5. Columns with the same letter are not significantly different at p = 0.05. Different coloured letters above bars represent separate analyses.

<u>2 months</u>				<u>4 n</u>	<u>nonths</u>		
Source	df	F ratio	p value	Source	df	F ratio	p value
Total Chl	3	3.008	0.037	Total Chl	5	2.824	0.02
Chl a/b	3	0.78	0.509	Chl a/b	5	0.652	0.66
Error	56			Error	84		
Total	59			Total	89		

**Table 2.5** Effect of SAB fuel on total chlorophyll and chlorophyll a/b of *P. foliosa* following 2 and 4 months exposure. One-way ANOVA (p < 0.05).

#### 2.4 Discussion

Give that the overall impact of SAB on the biomass production of this species is negligible, the hypothesis that growth would be affected was rejected for all concentrations. Since there were some minor adverse physiological and morphological effects, the hypothesis regarding adverse health is accepted. This was particularly the case for leaf morphology impacts at higher concentrations of SAB ( $20\ 000\ -40\ 000\ mg/kg$ ) and for total chlorophyll at 5 000. However, it is important to note that these impacts were minimal and did not affect overall plant yields.

Petroleum hydrocarbons have been found to have an inhibiting effect on general plant health and to suppress plant growth (especially roots), due to acute toxicity of light oil fractions as well as unfavourably altered soil conditions (DeLaune *et al.* 2003; Merkl *et al.* 2005b; Thompson *et al.* 2008). Brandt *et al.* (2006) investigated the potential of *Veiveria zizaniodes* for phytoremediation of petroleum hydrocarbon contaminated soils in Venezuela. Although this plant was found to tolerate the contaminant in a concentration of 50 000 mg/kg, biomass and plant height were significantly reduced. Similar adverse effects on plant growth in the presence of hydrocarbon contamination were observed by Liste and Prutz (2006). Thirteen plant species from four groups (grasses, cruciferes, legumes, herbs) were assessed for their ability to thrive in a long-term contaminant. More relevant to research presented in this thesis, plants growing in cold conditions also displayed this negative reaction to petroleum contamination. In a study in sub-Arctic Canada, Robson *et al.* (2003) found that the ability of thirty-nine cold tolerant plants

to grow in hydrocarbon-contaminated soils, was negatively affected by the addition of 5 000, 10 000 and 50 000 mg/kg of crude oil. Both the root biomass and total plant biomass significantly decreased by at least 22% relative to the control for all but two species, *Psoralea esculenta* (a native legume) and *Artemisia frigida* (a native forb).

In contrast to these reports, and as observed in the present study on *P. foliosa*, oil contamination may have little to no effect on plant species and may even cause growth stimulation (Merkl *et al.* 2005a; Liste and Prutz 2006; Gaskin *et al.* 2008; Peng *et al.* 2009). The causes of growth stimulation are thought to include hormonal effects or the release of nutrients from the hydrocarbons (Baker 1970). A number of studies, including Chiapusio *et al.* (2007) have reported a similar effect in certain plant species. Liste and Prutz (2006), for example, found that seed germination (lupin) and shoot biomass production (oat, mustard, pea) was improved in the presence of petroleum hydrocarbons within soil. Likewise, Gaskin *et al.* (2008) reported that seedling emergence, in all but one native Australian grass species, was unaffected by the presence of 10 000 and 50 000 mg/kg of petroleum hydrocarbons and some species (*Cymbopogon ambiguus*) produced considerably more root biomass in the presence of contamination. The remaining species in the study by Gaskin *et al.* (2008) showed no adverse growth effects on root or shoot biomass in the presence of the contaminant at all the exposed concentration treatments, as also found within the current study at both harvest periods for shoot and root biomass of *P. foliosa*.

Although root biomass was not significantly affected by the presence of hydrocarbons in this study, changes in the general root morphology were observed in qualitative visual assessments. Root morphology of the control and lower concentrations, especially after four months exposure, were distinctly more fibrous with a finer rooting system than plants exposed to higher concentrations (20 000 and 40 000 mg/kg). This finding is not uncommon within the literature, and is not surprising as fine roots tend to develop in response to nutrients (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) within soil, a condition that is suppressed in the presence of contaminants such as petroleum hydrocarbons (Harvey *et al.* 2002). In a study on the influence of heavy crude oil on root morphological characteristics of graminoids, Merkl *et al.* (2005a) reported a similar trend which indicated that crude oil causes a coarser root growth. Roots of *Brachiaria brizantha* and *Cyperus aggregates* were found to have shorter and thicker roots when exposed to contaminants, and both

expressed a decrease in specific root length and an increase in average root diameter. Thompson *et al.* (2008) also found that part of *Cynodon dactylons* physiological response to hydrocarbon contamination was an increase in the mean root diameter. However, their findings suggest that the larger mean diameter was a result of an increase in diameter of the existing roots, rather than a decrease in the number of very fine roots. During unfavourable environmental conditions, such as when exposed to contamination, *P. foliosa* root cortical tissues may become strongly lignified, limiting the development of fine roots. Therefore, further studies to collect quantitative data on the effect of hydrocarbons on *P. foliosa* are recommended, as fine roots (<0.8 mm) play the most important role in general nutrition and water uptake, and comprise most of the root surface area of a plant (Harvey *et al.* 2002).

From the two to four month period of the experiment shoot to root ratio of *P. foliosa* decreased significantly, indicating a flux of carbon to the roots. Generally this process occurs when there is a reduction in soil-derived resources such as nutrient supply, water, oxygen and temperature (Merkl et al. 2005b). It is also an indicator that the plant is a suitable species for use in phytoremediation as it displays the ability to change carbon fluxes in response to altered environmental conditions. Furthermore, P. foliosa displays a low mean relative growth rate (MRGR; 0.74 for shoots and 0.37 for roots) when compared to other species in the literature such as B. brizantha and C. aggregates (Merkl et al. 2005b). A comparative analysis of sub-Antarctic and alpine grasses by Medek et al. (2007) found sub-Antarctic grasses, including P. foliosa have inherently low MRGR's. Plants with low MRGR are known to be more widespread on infertile soils and have been physiologically linked to stress resistance (Elias and Chadwick 1979). A study by Robson et al. (2003) showed that plants with low MRGR are more likely to be successful for reclamation of infertile disturbed lands than those species with higher MRGR due to their suppressed demand for nutrients and water. Robson et al. (2003) found that out of thirtynine cold tolerant plants (grasses and legumes) in hydrocarbon-contaminated conditions those species with the lowest MRGR in uncontaminated soil were the ones that exhibited the least change in biomass with the addition of crude oil and vice versa.

The general pattern of growth through time shows that *P. foliosa* has the ability to proliferate and flourish regardless of the presence of SAB contamination. Since growth conditions simulated the conditions of Macquarie Island, this suggest this result would be

transferable to a field situation, with soil analysis showing that the organic content within Tasmanian Devils Dirt potting mix (13%) is in the range of Macquarie Island soils which can contain up to 30% organic content. For certain parameters, such as maximal photosynthetic efficiency ( $F_v/F_m$ ), shoot biomass, leaf length and area, there was an initial decrease after two months exposure, followed by an increase at four months. This trend is particularly prevalent in mean photosynthetic efficiency, which ranges from an average of 0.76 at the commencement of the experiment, to 0.67 at two months and to 0.84 at four months. The typical value of healthy plants, according to Björkman & Demmig (1987), ranges between 0.80 - 0.83. This indicates that plant stress levels in the current experiment were increased to a mild level after two months, but chlorophyll health increased to pre-exposure (healthy) levels by four months. Possible reasons for this could be that the hydrocarbons were in greater abundance in the soil at two months than at four months due to the presence of microbes associated with the plant, actively degrading contaminants and remediating the soil. It also shows the potential of *P. foliosa* to recover from exposure to contamination, even after experiencing moderate levels of stress ( $F_v/F_m = 0.67$ ), similar to results found in growth room studies with other grasses (DeLaune *et al.* 2003).

Further analysis into growth parameters of *P. foliosa*, including calculating the Shoot to Leaf Area (SLA) ratio and examining leaf pigments (via High Pressure Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)), may be useful in gaining a broader understanding of the effects of fuel on the grass. A detailed quantitative root study, including measuring parameters such as root width, length and the ratio of fine roots to coarse roots, would also benefit this research. These and other recommendations are discussed in chapter 4.

In conclusion, *P. foliosa* displays a good tolerance to petroleum hydrocarbons, and should be considered as a potential candidate for phytoremediation of SAB fuel contaminated soils on Macquarie Island. The following chapter investigated whether the presence of *P. foliosa* affects levels of TPH in the soil and if it influences the microbial flora in SAB contaminated soil.

# Chapter 3

# Phytoremediation of Special Antarctic Blend (SAB) fuel using sub-Antarctic grass *Poa foliosa*

# 3.1 Introduction

*Poa foliosa* may be a potential candidate for phytoremediation of soils contaminated with fuels under sub-Antarctic conditions. The grass displays the necessary resilience to petroleum hydrocarbons (Chapter 2), appropriate physiological characteristics which enhance hydrocarbon degradation, and resides in areas of Macquarie Island where major spills have occurred. However, the crux of phytoremediation lies in the plants' ability to accelerate the removal of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs) above natural microbial and mechanical levels. Therefore, comparative studies of soil TPH dissipation in the presence and absence of *P. foliosa* are paramount to gauge the success of this species for phytoremediation in sub-Antarctic regions.

Plants have been shown to augment hydrocarbon degradation in soil (Macek et al. 2000; Delille et al. 2003; Newman and Reynolds 2004; Liste and Prutz 2006; Gaskin et al. 2008). There is however, limited research into the potential of phytoremediation in high latitudes (Gibson 2000; Filler et al. 2008). Since it is acknowledged that micro-organisms play a major role in the degradation of hydrocarbons during the phytoremediation process (Sicilliano and Germida 1998; Siciliano et al. 2003; Pilon-Smits 2005; Merkl et al. 2006), microbial populations associated with P. foliosa must be examined. The mutualistic relationship of plants with rhizosphere microbes can vary between plant species, subsequently influencing the rhizosphere effect on hydrocarbon degradation (Chaudhry et al. 2005; Khan 2005; Gaskin et al. 2008; Phillips et al. 2008). The greater the number of specific microbes in the rhizosphere able to metabolise a contaminant, along with greater total microbial counts, significantly improves plant fostered biodegradation (Olsen et al. 2003; Liste and Prutz 2006). For example, plant-facilitated oil dissipation was found to correlate well with the abundance of root-associated microbes populations in a greenhouse study using Italian ryegrass (Lolium multiflorum; Alarcon et al. 2008). Similarly, a study by Lin et al. (2008) found 13 - 30% higher removal of diesel fuel in plant-microorganism synergy treatments than in treatments with plants alone. Therefore, quantifying the micro-organisms within the rhizosphere of P. foliosa is important in characterising the species potential for phytoremediation.

The object of this thesis was to determine the ability of *P. foliosa* to phytoremediate hydrocarbons in sub-Antarctic soils. The plants' capacity to degrade petroleum hydrocarbons from the soil, as well as the plants' ability to stimulate microbial populations in the rhizosphere, were assessed by experimentally comparing planted versus unplanted replicates, at different SAB concentrations, over an eight month study.

It was hypothesised that planted treatments would have significantly larger populations of both total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degrading micro-organisms, and significantly reduced contaminant concentrations, compared to unplanted treatments. The null hypothesis was that the presence of *P. foliosa* would make no difference to the number of micro-organisms or the concentration of TPH within the soil.

#### **3.2** Materials and Methods

#### 3.2.1 Sampling procedure and experimental design

As reported in Chapter 2 section 2.2.2.

#### 3.2.2 SAB diesel fuel analysis

Total petroleum hydrocarbons were recovered from the soil using methods adapted from Snape *et al.* (2005). The amount of sub-sample was modified to ensure the most accurate reading for each concentration. For concentrations 0 to 10 000 mg/kg, 10 g of soil was placed into a preweighed 40 ml head space vial with a Teflon septa, whereas 5 and 2.5 g of soil was used for the 20 000 and 40 000 mg/kg treatments respectively. Sub-samples were spiked with 1 ml of an internal standard mixture containing 250 mg/L bromoeicosane; 25.9 mg/L d10-anthracene; 49.8 mg/L d10-ethylbenzene; 62.4 mg/L fluoroheptane; and 250 mg/L cyclo-octane. Following this, 10 ml of hexane and 10 ml of Milli Q water were added. Sub-samples were then tumbled end over end for 12 hours at room temperature to ensure petroleum hydrocarbon separation.

The hexane layer was extracted and transferred into a 2 ml vial and analysed on an Agilent 6890 Gas Chromatography-Flame Ionisation Detector (GC-FID) fitted with an auto-sampler (Agilent 7683 ALS) and using helium as the carrier gas. Separation was achieved using an SGE BP-1 column (35 m x 0.22 mm Internal Diameter, 0.25  $\mu$ m film thickness). The extract (1  $\mu$ L) was injected at 310°C and at a pulsed split of 1:15. Extracts were cross calibrated with an

in-house SAB standard. The rate of flow of carrier gas was 1.3 mL/min for the duration of the oven program. The initial oven temperature of 50°C was held for three minutes prior to a ramp up to 320°C at 18°C/min. Detector temperature was 340°C. TPH concentrations were determined using a calibration curve, generated from the internal standard, to integrate the combined areas under resolved peaks and the Unresolved Complex Mixture (UCM). TPH was measured within the range of C9-18 to the internal standard peak response.

#### 3.2.3 Most Probable Number Assay

Enumeration of hydrocarbon degrading microbes was carried out using a Most Probable Number (MPN) protocol as described by Powell *et al.* (2006). Each replicate was assessed for SAB degraders in separate sterile 96-well microtitre trays. Each tray was divided into three sections (A, B and C) for triplicate analyses and all wells were filled with 160  $\mu$ L of Bushnell-Haas (BH) mineral salt medium (3.27 g/L). Initial dilutions of approximately 0.5 g of soil (wet weight) to 4.5 ml of BH broth were vortexed for 30 seconds (repeated twice) to achieve homogeneity. Each initial dilution of 40  $\mu$ L was used to inoculate the appropriate first four wells on the tiered tray. Serial dilutions of 5  $\mu$ L were undertaken with the last 5  $\mu$ L discarded (refer to Figure 3.1). Five  $\mu$ L of filtered-sterilized SAB was then applied to the surface of each well. The last row of wells were not inoculated and served as a negative control for growth. After five days of incubation at 10°C, 50  $\mu$ l of iodonitrotetrazolium chloride solution (INT) (3.0 g/l) was added to each well and trays were incubated for 24 hours. Wells were scored as positive on the formation of a pink precipitate.



**Figure 3.1** Most Probable Number assay showing 47 positive (pink) readings for hydrocarbon degrading microbial growth.

Total heterotrophs were identified in a similar manner to hydrocarbon degrading microbes except that half-strength tryptone soya broth (15.0 g/L) was used instead of BH. Positive wells were indicated by an opaque reading after seven (rather than five) days incubation. For the initial harvest and the first harvest (two months) all wells were filled with 180  $\mu$ L of tryptone soya broth and 20  $\mu$ L of initial sample dilutions as counts of total heterotrophs were anticipated to be higher than hydrocarbon degraders. This resulted in serial dilutions of 10  $\mu$ L. At the second harvest (four months) the ratio of media to initial sample dilution (40  $\mu$ L) was adjusted back to those used for hydrocarbon degrading microbes.

#### 3.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Prior to analysis, data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilks W Test, and homogeneity of variance using Cochran's *C* test.  $Log_{10}$  transformations were used to normalise the distribution of the data for the relative increase in total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degrading microbes, while square root transformations were used to normalise TPH data. A single outlier was excluded from the hydrocarbon degrading data as well as the TPH data to achieve a normal data set. This outlier exclusion did not change the outcome of results. MPN results for the 20 000 and 40 000 mg/kg treatments were not included in analysis as data was only available for planted replicates. All data were analysed using the statistical program JMP (Vol. 5.1 SAS Institute Inc., U.S.). A three-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was done with the significance level set at p = 0.05. Where significant interactions were observed, Tukey HD *post hoc* tests were used to identify significantly different means. Single regression analyses were also performed at p = 0.05.

# 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Total petroleum hydrocarbon degradation

The presence of *P. foliosa* significantly increased the removal of Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH) from contaminated soil (p = 0.0076; Figure 3.2; Table 3.1). After two months of exposure, concentration of TPH in planted treatments decreased by 41, 45 and 48% more than their unplanted counterparts, at concentrations of 1 000, 5 000, and 10 000 mg/kg respectively. Similarly, after four months, concentrations of TPH were 35, 39 and 41% of the respective controls 1 000, 5 000, and 10 000 mg/kg. Initial nominal concentrations of TPHs (1 000, 5 000 and 10 000 mg/kg) declined across all treatments over four months (Appendix C). The mean concentrations, with a significant decline at 5 000 mg/kg (p = 0.0032; Figure 3.2; Table 3.1). At the two month stage, as the concentration of SAB increased from 0 to 10 000 mg/kg, the soil TPH increased significantly (p = 0.0032; Table 3.1). Likewise, after four months, as the concentration of SAB increased from 0 to 10 000 mg/kg, the soil TPH increased significantly (p = 0.0032), with the exception of 1 000 mg/kg which was statistically similar to the control (Table 3.1).



**Figure 3.2** Changes in the TPH concentration in planted (*P. foliosa*) and unplanted soil in relation to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations (mg/kg), for time intervals 2 and 4 months. Data are means  $\pm$  SEM, n = 5. All planted versus unplanted pairs are significantly different. Letters **a** to **e** represent differences between the two time interval groups across concentrations. Columns with the same letter are not significantly different.

Table 3.1 Three-way ANOVA table:	effect of time, concentration,	planted/unplanted and	interactions on
the level of TPH in soil (n.s. indicates	a non significant value).		

	Source	df	Chi-Squared	p value
	Whole model	15	24.97	0.0001
	Time	1	n.s.	n.s.
	Concentration	3	109.4	0.0001
Level of TPH in soil	Planted/Unplanted	1	7.65	0.0076
	Time x Concentration	3	5.16	0.0032
	Time x Planted/Unplanted	1	n.s.	n.s.
	Concentration x Planted/Unplanted	3	n.s.	n.s.
	Time x Concentration x Planted/Unplanted	3	n.s.	n.s.

## 3.3.2 Microbial populations in the rhizosphere

The composition of microbial populations within the rhizosphere changed through time. In the first two months after SAB exposure, total heterotrophs increased by a factor of 15, from  $2xE^{06}$  up to  $2.5xE^{07}$ , before declining significantly to pre-experiment levels by four months (see Appendix D; Figure 3.3a). The number of heterotrophic micro-organisms increased with increasing hydrocarbon concentrations in unplanted treatments with significant increases at 5 000 mg/kg and again at 10 000 mg/kg (p = 0.0001; Figure 3.3a; Table 3.2). In contrast, for

planted treatments total heterotrophs peaked at 1 000 mg/kg but no significant differences were detected across all treatments (Figure 3.3a). In comparison with unplanted treatments, the presence of *P. foliosa* significantly augmented the number of total heterotrophs in the root zone for treatment concentrations of 0 and 1 000 mg/kg (p = 0.0001; Table 3.2). At 5 000 mg/kg total heterotroph numbers were similar across both planted and unplanted treatments, but at 10 000 mg/kg unplanted treatments displayed twice the number of microbes. This trend was still apparent at four months even though population numbers had declined significantly compared to the two month time interval (p = 0.0001; Table 3.2).

The presence of hydrocarbon degrading microbes in the rhizosphere also changed over time and these microbes were most abundant at the two month harvest, although the pattern was somewhat different to the total microbial counts (Figure 3.3b). As with total heterotrophs, the levels of hydrocarbon degrading microbes fell significantly between the two and four month time interval (p = 0.001; Figure 3.3b; Table 3.2). Hydrocarbon degraders increased proportionally with increasing hydrocarbon concentrations for unplanted treatments with significant increases at each concentration (p = 0.019; Table 3.2). For planted treatments, hydrocarbon degraders increased significantly with concentration between 0 and 5 000 mg/kg but remained constant above this concentration (p = 0.019; Figure 3.3b; Table 3.2). Hydrocarbon degrader levels were significantly higher in the planted, compared to the unplanted 0 mg/kg treatment (p = 0.0001; Table 3.2), for both harvests, but did not differ in all other treatment concentrations.

Although not significant, after two months of exposure there was a trend for the proportion of hydrocarbon degrading microbes, to total heterotrophs, to increase with increasing fuel concentration for unplanted treatments. In the planted treatments this trend occurred up to the 5 000 mg/kg treatment (Figure 3.3c). Planted treatments at two months contained greater numbers of hydrocarbon degrading microbes than did unplanted treatments at concentrations of 0 and 5 000 mg/kg, but not at 1 000 or 10 000 mg/kg. At four months the trend was more established with a clear proportional increase in hydrocarbon degrading microbes with increasing fuel concentration. Hydrocarbon degraders were proportionally greater for planted treatments across all fuel concentrations, with the exception of 10 000 mg/kg in which the two treatments were similar.



**Figure 3.3** Change in the number of (a) total heterotrophs, (b) hydrocarbon degrading microbes and (c) the ratio of hydrocarbon degrading microbes to total heterotrophs, from the rhizosphere of *P. foliosa* and unplanted soil in relation to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations (mg/kg), for time intervals 2 and 4 months. Data are means  $\pm$  SEM, n = 5. \* indicates significant differences between planted and unplanted replicates across concentrations.

	Source	df	Chi-Squared	p value
	Whole model	15	19.34	0.0001
	Time	1	193.21	0.0001
	Concentration	3	16.77	0.0001
Total	Planted/Unplanted	1	n.s.	n.s.
heterotrophs	Time x Concentration	3	n.s.	n.s
	Time x Planted/Unplanted	1	n.s.	n.s.
	Concentration x Planted/Unplanted	3	12.34	0.0001
	Time x Concentration x Planted/Unplanted	3	n.s.	n.s.
	Whole model	15	37.75	0.0001
	Time	1	28.37	0.0001
	Concentration	3	163.83	0.0001
Hydrocarbon	Planted/Unplanted	1	8.41	0.004
degrading microbes	Time x Concentration	3	n.s.	n.s.
	Time <b>x</b> Planted/Unplanted	1	5.64	0.019
	Concentration x Planted/Unplanted	3	8.77	0.0001
	Time x Concentration x Planted/Unplanted	3	n.s.	n.s.

**Table 3.2** Three-way ANOVA table: effect of time, concentration, planted/unplanted and interactions on levels of total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degrading microbes (n.s. indicates a non significant value).

#### 3.3.3 Relationships between hydrocarbon degradation and microbes

A significant positive association between the number of total heterotrophs in the sample and the TPH concentration in the soil was found for unplanted treatments (linear regression;  $R^2 =$ 0.654; p = 0.0001). This relationship was not found for planted treatments ( $R^2 = 0.026$ ; p = 0.321; Figure 3.4a). Sixty-five percent of variation in concentrations of TPH in unplanted treatments can be explained by variations in total microbial populations. The number of hydrocarbon degrading microbes significantly influenced TPH concentrations for both unplanted ( $R^2 = 0.682$ ; p = 0.0001) and planted ( $R^2 = 0.192$ ; p = 0.0046) treatments, explaining 68 and 19% of the variation within the data respectively (Figure 3.4b). The ratio of hydrocarbon degrading microbes to total heterotrophs did not have a significant relationship to TPH concentrations in the soil for either unplanted ( $R^2 = 0.045$ ; p = 0.184), or planted ( $R^2 = 0.045$ ; p = 0.188; Figure 3.4c) treatments.



**Figure 3.4** Relationship between (a) total heterotrophs, (b) hydrocarbon degrading microbes and (c) the ratio of hydrocarbon degraders to total heterotrophs, to the level of soil petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) in planted (*P. foliosa*) and unplanted soil, for time intervals 2 and 4 months.

#### **3.4** Discussion

The aim of this study was to determine whether *P. foliosa* has the potential to facilitate the degradation of hydrocarbons in soils under sub-Antarctic conditions, in order to assess the utility of phytoremediation as an effective soil treatment option for contaminated sites at Macquarie Island. The presence of *P. foliosa* was found to significantly decrease concentrations of hydrocarbons in soil by up to 48% more than unplanted soils, indicating that phytoremediation, using this species, is a highly successful technique. The presence of *P. foliosa* also modified microbial community structure (total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degrading microbes) within the soil, but only significantly increased microbial levels at lower treatment concentrations.

The presence of vegetation is reported to have an enhancing effect on microbial populations within soil (see reviews by Hutchinson 2003 and Wenzel 2008), and accordingly to improve degradation of soil contaminants due to co-metabolic processes (Chaudhry et al. 2005; Gaskin et al. 2008). For example, Liste and Felgentreu (2006) found higher counts of culturable microbes and actinomycetes in vegetated soil compared to un-vegetated soil, coupled with a 15.6% decrease in final TPH concentrations. Similarly, Philips et al. (2009) reported Altai wild rye (*Elymus angustus* Trin.) supported up to 100 times more endophytic hexane degraders than the unplanted control, promoting rates of TPH degradation that were up to 50% higher than in unplanted treatments. In keeping with these findings, P. foliosa significantly decreased TPH levels across all concentration treatments by up to 48% more than in unplanted soil. Additionally, final TPH concentrations in planted treatments (at four months) were reduced to below 300 mg/kg, which was the average soil background level in initial uncontaminated samples (Appendix C). By this time interval planted treatments had reduced soil TPH concentrations by 99.5, 98.0 and 97.3% of the initial nominal concentrations of 1 000, 5 000 and 10 000 mg/kg respectively. This rate of TPH reduction was unexpectedly fast when compared to studies such as Hutchinson et al. (2001) where a decrease of 49% was observed after 6 months and 57 to 68% after 12 months; Pradhan et al. (1998) where degradation was reported to be 57% after 6 months; and Chen et al. (2003) who reported losses of 35% after 6 months.

Potential reasons for enhanced degradation in the current study may include direct uptake of the contaminant by *P. foliosa*. Although organic compounds are not usually incorporated by plants, due to their chemical structure (Cunningham and Ow 1996) it is possible that in this situation *P. foliosa* played an active role in absorbing SAB and accumulating it in its roots and leaves. While studies in regard to phytoextraction of organics are scant within the literature, research by Parrish *et al.* (2006) using *Cucurbita pepo* ssp. *pepo* (zucchini), *Cucumis sativus* (cucumber) and *Cucurbita pepo* ssp. *ovifera* (squash) to extract weathered hydrocarbons from soil, and Gao and Zhu (2004) using 12 plants species to extract pyrene from contaminated soils, have shown that phytoextraction of organics is a feasible pathway. Therefore, it is possible that uptake may have occurred in the current study.

Furthermore, the unique composition of SAB (which has been treated to remove heavy oil fractions that prevent it functioning in cold climates) may have made the contaminant more amenable, in both planted and unplanted treatments, to biodegradation and abiotic processes such as volatilisation due to its low molecular weight (Parrish *et al.* 2006). Also, soil leachate could potentially be a method of SAB loss in this experiment, as low temperatures can increase the water solubility of fuels (Margesin and Schinner 1999), however all runoff was recycled back into the pots to ensure against this. Further investigations are needed to gain a more comprehensive understanding of both the abiotic processes, and plant induced processes, affecting the rate of SAB degradation under cold conditions.

Although concentrations of TPH were reduced in the presence of *P. foliosa*, as microbial populations were not significantly higher in planted treatments, factors other than microbial populations are influencing the degradation of the fuel. This is in contrast to findings of Banks *et al.* (2003), Siciliano *et al.* (2003), Chiapusio *et al.* (2007) and Gaskin *et al.* (2008), who observed significantly higher numbers of microbes in planted soil compared to the unplanted control. Contrary to the hypothesis, and similar to studies by Radwan *et al.* (1998), Kudjo Dzantor *et al.* (2000), Chaiapusio *et al.* (2007) and Cofield *et al.* (2007), this study generally observed no difference in microbial populations between planted and unplanted treatments (with the exception of 0 and 1 000 mg/kg). The current study also found even lower levels of both, total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degrading microbes, in planted treatments than in unplanted treatments at 10 000 mg/kg, similar to reports from Merkl *et al.* (2006). Moreover, this experiment found that higher numbers of total heterotrophs or hydrocarbon degraders in the soil did not correspond to increased levels of hydrocarbon loss across concentrations for planted soil,

only unplanted soil (c.f Figures 3.2 and 3.3a and b). For example, maximum levels of TPH degradation in planted treatments occurred at 10 000 mg/kg of SAB. At this treatment, levels of total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degraders were over 50% lower than in the unplanted soil, yet measured TPH degradation was 41 to 48% higher. Also, the regression analysis between microbes and soil TPH suggests that in unplanted soil, TPH concentration is strongly associated with presence of microbes, with 65 and 68% of the variation in TPH levels explained by total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degrading microbes respectively. Conversely, in planted treatments total heterotrophs showed no association with soil TPH concentration, whilst hydrocarbon degraders showed a weak association of 19%. It therefore appears that, while P. foliosa was highly successful at remediating SAB contaminated soil, the plants' effectiveness is not solely linked to the presence of microbial populations as initially hypothesised, or perhaps it is in this case also linked to other plant associated mechanisms. This being said, the levels of micro-organism observed in the current experiment were considerably higher than expected for cold regions (Leszkiewicz 2001; Delille et al. 2003; Rayner et al. 2007), thereby supporting bioremediation as a potential option for the sub-Antarctic. This contrasts with expectations that it would be inadequate due to low microbial longevity (Delille et al. 2007a).

The lack of correlation between the breakdown of SAB and microbial populations in soil in this study suggests that *P. foliosa* invokes the use of 'phytodegradation' rather than 'rhizoremediation' to reduce concentrations of TPH in the soil. Phytodegradation refers to the use of internal plant mechanisms and processes to degrade organic pollutants (Wenzel 2008). Parameters known to aid contaminant breakdown, reported in Wensel *et al.* (2008) and Chaudlhry *et al.* (2005), include plant specific root enzyme exudates, volatilisation, changes to the physical and chemical nature of the soil and increasing the supply of oxygen to the root zone (essential for oxidation of organic contaminants). For example, a study by Olsen *et al.* (2003) proposed that certain root-released compounds act as biosurfactants making contaminants more bioavailable. This means that the pollutant can be readily taken up from the soil, or easily transformed by living organisms. Furthermore, Banks *et al.* (2000) reported root turnover of soil may change the soil's chemical and physical properties to favour contaminant degradation and assist in contaminant volatilisation. Margesin and Schimmer (1999) suggested that plant induced changes in the moisture content and water availability within soils can also significantly affect the degradation of organics. However, to date, there have been limited studies in which plants have demonstrated the degradation of organics, such as petroleum hydrocarbons, by phytodegradation mechanisms alone (Newman and Reynolds 2004). It is therefore plausible that microbes may have been misrepresented in this experiment, masking their actual influence on TPH degradation.

Microbes at higher TPH concentrations have a faster metabolic rate due to the presence of excess carbon as a food source (Nichols et al. 1996). This high level of metabolic activity may have influenced the numbers of microbes catalogued in this experiment in two ways. Firstly, the presence of P. foliosa may have accelerated the degradation process to such an extent that the microbes were less plentiful in the planted treatment by the two and four month time intervals (when counted), since a reduction in the availability of the contaminant diminishes microbial fecundity (Alkorta and Garbisu 2001; Liste and Prutz 2006). Secondly, the bi-products of highly active microbial overturn can lead to a direct decrease in levels of soil pH, causing microbial inhibition at later stages of hydrocarbon remediation (Merkl et al. 2006). For example, Merkl et al. (2005) found that when planted with B. brizantha, petroleum hydrocarbons were degraded at a faster rate than in unplanted soil causing a higher metabolic turnover. This led to an accumulation of organic acids in the soil which subsequently decreased the pH causing microbial inhibition towards the end of the experiment in planted treatments (Merkl et al. 2005). Most microbes favour, and develop best under, relatively neutral pH conditions (Huang and Chen 2003). Thus, in order to understand if microbial affects are being 'masked' by either of these possibilities, further studies are needed to examine weekly fluctuations of microbes between zero and two months and to analyse the level of organic acids in planted and unplanted treatments.

If microbes are in fact the driving force of phytoremediation using *P. foliosa*, but are simply becoming less plentiful in the latter stages of contaminant degradation, then stimulating populations of microbes, for example by the addition of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR; Saleh *et al.* 2004), nitrogen fertilizer (Thompson *et al.* 2008; Ayotamuno *et al.* 2009) or phosphorus fertilizer (Alarcon *et al.* 2008), may further enhance SAB degradation. It is important to remember that, apart from the many beneficial interactions, plants and microbes also compete for the same resources (Wenzel 2008). In soils where nutrients are low, such as those polluted with hydrocarbons (Harvey *et al.* 2002), resource competition may be a limiting factor of microbial growth and biodegradation (Joner *et al.* 2004). For example, the promotion of

hydrocarbon degrading microbes has been shown by Siciliano et al. (2003) to be strongly modulated by abiotic factors. This study found the influence of plants on microbial communities to be dependent on available nutrients, and suggested that phytoremediation requires other site management techniques, such as increased fertilization, to exploit it to its full potential. Furthermore, studies on sub-Antarctic soils by Coulon et al. (2004) and Delillie et al. (2004) showed that the addition of fertilizer improves petroleum hydrocarbon degradation, however the adverse toxic residues that remain in low temperature soils after fertilization was noted as a considerable drawback. Conversely, Thompson *et al.* (2008) reported mixed results in relation to the benefits of additional nitrogen fertilizer to promote contaminant degradation. They reported that although nitrogen aided in the promotion of root growth (creating a better environment for micro-organisms) it also decreased the bioavailability and bioaccessibility of the contaminant, thus reducing biodegradation potential. Similarly, hydrocarbon degradation in a crude-oil contaminated soil was inhibited following nutrient addition (Chaineau et al. 2005). However, other studies have suggested that this repression may be soil specific (Phillips *et al.* 2006; 2009). Macquarie Island soils vary in nitrogen content depending on their vicinity to areas heavily occupied by animals (Erksine *et al.* 1998). Nevertheless, as the field application of this work is expected to have lower nutrient levels than the potting mix used in this experiment, nutrient additions may be an important factor to on site phytoremediation success.

A number of reports in the literature favour the addition of PGPR rather than fertilizers (Wenzel 2008). Zhuang *et al.* (2007), for example, reported that PGPR significantly aids in increasing plant tolerance to hydrocarbons, by prompting plant growth to create a better microbial environment and the PGPR also directly degrade the contaminant themselves. Specifically, the bacteria *Enterobactor cloacae* was shown to be most effective under total petroleum hydrocarbon contamination (Huang *et al.* 2005). Nevertheless, introducing this particular strain of bacteria on to Macquarie Island is unlikely to be approved due to laws regarding species importations (Bergstrom *et al.* 2009). Further studies on possible endemic PGPRs would be needed before this option can be considered as a possible aid to phytoremediation on Macquarie Island.

Suggestions for future research include a more detailed study into how *P. foliosa* influences SAB removal, particularly at early stages following fresh contamination. Measuring

parameters such as soil organic acid levels, pH, oxygen, moisture content and the level of plant exudates could also provide important insights. Testing plant shoots and roots for TPH accumulation would clarify whether *P. foliosa* can phytoextract SAB from the soil via absorption, uptake and transportation, although octanol/water partition coefficient (Kow) information available for SAB tends to exclude this as a major mechanism. These and other limitations are discussed in chapter 4.

In conclusion, these findings provide persuasive evidence that phytoremediation using *P*. *foliosa* is an effective treatment selection to reduce SAB levels under sub-Antarctic conditions. It does not appear that the species uses micro-organisms as its sole form of SAB removal, however, further studies are needed in this area.

# Chapter 4

# **General Discussion and Conclusions**

# 4.1 Overview

This thesis aimed to evaluate the native Macquarie Island grass species, *P. foliosa*, as a potential candidate for the phytoremediation of fuel contaminated soils under sub-Antarctic conditions. The major findings of this research include:

- 1. *Poa foliosa* is highly tolerant to soils contaminated with SAB between concentrations 0 to 10 000 mg/kg and can proliferate in SAB contaminated soils of up to 40 000 mg/kg.
- 2. The presence of *P. foliosa* significantly increases rates of TPH degradation in soils contaminated with SAB resulting in soils with nearly 50% lower contaminants than unplanted treatments. Concentrations of TPH in soil planted with *P. foliosa* approached background levels within four months.
- 3. The presence of *P. foliosa* changes microbial compositions in soils contaminated with SAB and significantly stimulates the growth of both total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degraders in soils containing low SAB concentrations (up to 1 000 mg/kg).
- 4. The presence of microbes in the root zone does not appear to be the sole force of TPH degradation in soil planted with *P. foliosa*.

From the results of the current study, it is clear that *P. foliosa* has a highly significant positive effect on the degradation of SAB within soil and would be recommended as a useful method in the suite of *in-situ* remediation technologies that are being adopted at Macquarie Island. *Poa foliosa* plants showed only a slight reduction in health when exposed to concentrations of 5 000, 20 000 and 40 000 mg/kg. Whilst plants significantly encouraged the growth of microbial populations at lower concentrations, the stimulation of TPH degradation by plants was not solely due to increased microbial levels. *Poa foliosa* also has the potential to be used on other sub-Antarctic islands or in similar cold climates where the plant natively resides.

# 4.2 Discussion, limitations and recommendations for future work

While the results of this study are promising, additional studies conducted in the field to assess the response and effectiveness of P. foliosa in the remediation of soils under natural conditions, would further complement and validate this work. A number of studies, including those by DeLaune et al. (2003), Robson et al. (2003) and Chiapusio et al. (2007), have highlighted differences between responses observed in growth room experiments, versus those noted in the field. Growth room experiments can sometimes restrict the ability of plants to carry out phytoremediation. For example, experiments by DeLaune et al. (2003) found Spartina patens in the field had a better rooting system than their growth room counterparts, as root growth was not confined to a small volume such as occurs within pots. When contaminated with oil, growth room plants mostly died or did not regenerate many new shoots, whereas plants in the field had the ability to regenerate from underground rhizomes and showed substantial recovery to exposure. Root confinement is likely to have had a negative effect on the health of P. foliosa within this experiment. Poa foliosa is known to develop and spread almost entirely by its complex rhizome system, resulting in an accumulation of a dense mass of roots beneath the ground's surface (Ashton 1965). By the end of the study (eight months) potted plants were extremely root bound with the rhizome system severely restricted by pot confinement (Figure 2.5). Thus, it maybe anticipated that *P. foliosa* would produce a larger root biomass in the field, leading to a greater rhizosphere surface area and as a result, plants would potentially be more effective at phytoremediation.

Although Macquarie Island conditions were simulated as best as possible in this study, the controlled conditions of the growth room did not allow *P. foliosa* to experience the unpredictable environment of the field. Not only were the plants protected from dramatic fluctuations in weather (such as wind speed, cloud cover, temperature and water availability) but they were potted in commercially available soil, rather than in soil from Macquarie Island, to which fresh hydrocarbons were added. Plant toxicity of hydrocarbons varies widely with soil characteristics (Smith *et al.* 2006; Liste and Prutz 2006) and using only one contaminated soil type in a screening experiment may prevent an accurate identification of species tolerance under a range of naturally occurring soil types and conditions (Robson *et al.* 2003). Furthermore, the use of freshly contaminated soil in this study does not replicate the current conditions of fuel

contamination that *P. foliosa* would be exposed to if planted for remediation of current contaminated sites on Macquarie Island. The most recent spill encountered at Macquarie Island occurred at the Main Power House in 2002 (Rayner et al. 2007), meaning the minimum age of contamination within Macquarie Island soils is seven years. It is well-known that bioavailability is one of the most limiting factors to petroleum hydrocarbon degradation (Mohn and Stewart 2000; Mohan et al. 2006; Olson et al. 2007). A study by Allard et al. (2000), using aged creosote-contaminated soil, found that age of the contamination was the limiting factor in its bioavailability and consequently its degradation. Over time, interactions with soil organic matter cause a decline in hydrocarbon degradation through adsorption, diffusion and dissolution, and covalent binding, which result in bound hydrocarbon molecules which are not readily biodegraded (Parrish et al. 2005). Therefore, hydrocarbon properties along with soil organic matter can strongly influence the bioavailability of compounds in soil and thus phytoremediation success (Smith et al. 2006; Chiapusio et al. 2007). Our experiment is not conducive to a real field situation, where soil can vary in total organic matter content by up to 30%, hydrocarbons are not homogenously mixed through soil, and are also recalcitrant. A field trial of P. foliosa, in a range of soils contaminated with various aged hydrocarbons is consequently essential to more thoroughly assess this applicability of the species for phytoremediation.

It was noted that, by the four month harvest the TPH concentrations in planted soil were approaching those found in initial uncontaminated samples (~300 mg/kg dw). This result was unforeseen as it was anticipated that the cold temperature (7 - 9°C) would slow the rate of hydrocarbon degradation. The temperatures of Macquarie Island are unfavourable for plant growth, microbial activity and thus phytoremediation of organics, which have been found to biodegrade most efficiently in conditions of intense light and humidity and at high temperatures between 30 and 40°C (Yeung *et al.* 1997; Merkl *et al.* 2005a). Because of this, it was estimated that TPH degradation could take up to twelve months, and that little activity would occur within the first two months of planting. However, this was not the case, and research on the changes in TPH concentrations and microbial community response based on weekly observation and measurements within the first two months of exposure to contamination would be useful. Our study has shown this is the period in which biodegradation is greatest and the largest differences between the planted and unplanted treatments are expected to occur. It is important to note that

this result may vary across studies depending on the age of the hydrocarbons, the soil type and characteristics including organic content. Soils with a high organic content may decrease contaminant bioavailability and therefore influence lag phases in microbial growth (Gaskin 2008). Macquarie Island soils generally have a higher organic content (up to 30%) than the soils used in the current study (13%), and as a result may have a more pronounced lag time.

Experimentally analysing the success of *P. foliosa* plants at different stages of maturity may be advantageous in achieving the fastest rate of phytoremediation. The greater the rooting system, the larger the amount of contaminated soil that is exposed to remedial rhizosphere effects (Liste and Felgentreu 2006). The current study used transplanted species in the pioneer phase, however, the life history of the species suggests that plants in the mature phase may be best for phytoremediation. During the mature phase *P. foliosa* forms a dense mass of dead and living roots beneath the ground's surface, creating a pedestal of fibrous peat that supports the large crown of the plant (Ashton 1965). Full root development has been found to be a prerequisite for the benefits of phytoremediation (Hou *et al.* 2001), therefore, targeting a time in the life cycle of *P. foliosa* where roots are most developed could prove beneficial. Plant root exudates (the main stimulator of degrading micro-organisms) also change with plant age (Gunther *et al.* 1996) and may be greater at a later stage of plant development (Merkl *et al.* 2005b).

An important point to consider is the high level of variability in the microbial data, especially at 10 000 mg/kg. Accurate enumeration of soil micro-organism is difficult in any situation and there are limitations to the traditional methods of microbial inventory (plate counts) that were used in this experiment (Banks *et al.* 2003). Factors that may have caused this variation include the constant state of flux of microbes and the fact that only a small proportion of the total soil biomass is comprised of microbial cells. Although attempts were made to standardise procedures and the site of collection of soil samples wherever possible, samples were not always able to be consistently sampled from the soil surrounding the rhizosphere. This may account for such discrepancies within the data and may also have led to an under-representation of the actual densities of microbes within planted treatments. Furthermore, microbial samples were calculated on a wet weight, rather than on a dry weight basis, and differences in soil moisture content at the time of sampling were highly evident. Recalculating the MPN data based on dry weights could
potentially reduce variation. Further studies could also carry out functional diversity assessments as a more comprehensive method of analysing changes in microbial communities (Banks *et al.* 2003). Although hydrocarbon degrading micro-organisms did not appear to correlate strongly with TPH degradation in planted treatments (Figure 3.4c), no information was gathered in regard to which microbes within these populations were actually increasing or decreasing. It may be that specific microbes within hydrocarbon degrading populations are more apt at degrading SAB, and as a result smaller numbers of these are required to substantially reduce large TPH quantities.

As previously mentioned, a number of *in situ* mechanisms such as micro-bioventing have been successfully applied on Macquarie Island (Rayner et al. 2007) and the purpose of this study was to identify if phytoremediation would be a useful method to compliment these already established techniques. Huang et al. (2004) found that a multi-process approach to phytoremediation, which comprises different aspects of contaminant removal from soils, can increase efficiency of contaminant removal compared to phytoremediation alone by up to 45%. Both Huang et al. (2005) and Lin et al. (2008) have reported TPH removal of up to 88% by using a multi-process system including bioremediation, phytoremediation and land-farming to remediate soil within eight months. Similarly, field studies in cold climates have also reported multi-process phytoremediation systems success (Greenberg et al. 2008). A relevant area of future research would be to investigate the efficiency of the techniques already in place at Macquarie Island in conjunction with phytoremediation, and to devise a model of the most complementary in situ techniques to achieve the fastest and most effective remedial design for fuels in the sub-Antarctic environment. This could be extended to examine the effects of mixing P. foliosa with other grass species that already inhabit Macquarie Island such as Poa cooki and Poa annua similar to mixed plant methods carried out by Philips et al. (2006; 2009).

A question remains in regard to the anticipated remedial efficiency of *P. foliosa* when planted in differing levels of SAB contamination in the field. If applied on Macquarie Island, *P. foliosa* would be required to remediate soils ranging from 800 to 7 000 mg/kg. It is within this zone (5 000 mg/kg) that a number of health parameters indicated plant stress. The question is, will this detrimentally affect the plants ability to degrade THP? From this study's findings it appears that it would not. Even though *P. foliosa* plant health seemed slightly compromised for

some parameters such as chlorophyll content, the plant still degraded SAB at a rate 35 to 45% more than its unplanted counterpart. Similar results were found in both a long-term field study on the degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons via crop growth (Liste and Felgentreu 2006) and a study involving Altai wild rye (Philips *et al.* 2009). Contaminant degradation was found to be higher in plants that showed signs of stress and growth depression. Reasons for this particular pattern can be explained by findings from Kamath *et al.* (2004) who concluded that under stressful conditions plants are particularly effective in augmenting contaminant biodegradation. This is because stress stimulates a greater release of chemicals inductive to microbial hydrocarbon degradation from the plant roots, thus increasing microbial populations and subsequently increasing the level of degradation (Chaudhry *et al.* 2005). Phytoremediation can consequently be seen as a defence mechanism against the phytotoxic effects of soil contaminants, and provides further evidence to its usefulness as an *in situ* method for the remediation of sub-Antarctic soils.

## 4.3 Conclusion

In conclusion, this study describes the first investigation into the potential of *P. foliosa* to phytoremediate soils contaminated with SAB fuel under sub-Antarctic conditions. Experiments have successfully shown that, not only can the species tolerate high levels of SAB, but its presence significantly reduces levels of SAB in soil within two months. The use of *P. foliosa* to phytoremediate sites on Macquarie Island is an environmentally friendly, economical, sustainable and feasible option within the suite of other remedial strategies already in place. This study provides the foundations for further applied research aimed at reducing the human impacts within the sub-Antarctic region.

#### References

- Aislabie J., Balks M., Fogirt J. and Waterhouse E. (2001). Hydrocarbon spills on Antarctic Soils: Effects and management. *Environmental Science and Technology* **38**(5): 1265-1274.
- Alarcon A., Davis F., Authenrieth R. and Zuberer D. (2008). Arbuscular mycorrhiza and petroleum-degrading micro-organisms enhance phytoremediation of petroleum-contaminated soil. *International Journal of Phytoremediation* **10**: 251-263.
- Alkorta I. and Garbisu C. (2001). Phytoremediation of organic contaminants in soil. Bioresources Technology **79**: 273-279.
- Allard A., Remberger M. and Neilson A. (2000). The negative impact of ageing on the loss of PAH components in a creosote-contaminated soil. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation* 46: 43-49.
- Anderson T., Gutherie E. and Walton B. (1993). Bioremediation in the Rhizosphere. *Environmental Science and Technology* **27**(13): 2630-2636.
- April W. and Sims R. (1990). Evaluation of the use of prairie grasses for stimulating PAH treatment in soil. *Chemosphere* **20**: 253-266.
- Ashton D.H. (1965). Regeneration patterns of *Poa foliosa* Hook F. on Macquarie Island. *Royal Society of Victoria* **79**: 215-233.
- Atlas R. (1975). Effects of temperature and crude oil composition on petroleum biodegradation. *Applied microbiology* **30**(3): 396-403.
- Australian Antarctic Division (2007). Remediation of petroleum spills on Macquarie Island. Proposal. Hobart, Australian Antarctic Division: 7.
- Australian Bureau of Meteorology. (2008). Climate Data Online (Web Application). Retrieved 09/01/09, 2009, from http://www.bom.gov.au/climate.

- Ayotamuno J., Kogbara R. and Agoro O. (2009). Biostimulation supplemented with phytoremediation in the reclamation of a petroleum contaminated soil. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* **25**(9): 1567-1572.
- Baker J.M. (1970). The effects of oil on plants. *Environmental Pollution* 1: 27-44.
- Banks K., Mallede H. and Rathbone K. (2003). Rhizosphere microbial characterization in petroleum-contaminated soil. *Soil and Sediment Contamination* **12** (3): 371-385.
- Banks M., Govindaraju R., Schwab A. and Kulakow P. (2000). Demonstration Introduction and Technology Overview. In: Fiorenza S., Oubre C.L. and Herb Ward C. (eds), *Phytoremediation of Hydrocarbon-Contaminated Soil*, CRC Press LLC, London, pp. 11-85.
- Bergstrom D.M., Lucieer A., Kiefer K., Wasley J., Belbin L., Pedersen T. and Chown S. (2009). Indirect effects of invasive species removal devastate World Heritage Island. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 46: 73-81.
- Bergstrom D.M. and Selkirk P.M. (2007). Human impacts on sub-Antarctic terrestrial environments. *Papers and Proceedings of the Royal Society of Tasmania* **141**(1): 159-167.
- Bjorkman O. and Demmig B. (1987). Photon yield of oxygen evolution and chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics at 77 K among vascular plants of diverse origins. *Planta* **170**: 489-504.
- Boulding J. and Ginn J. (2004). Practical handbook of soil, vadose zone and ground water contamination: assessment, prevention and remediation. Edition: 2, CRC Press, New York.
- Braddock J.F., Lindstrom J.E. and Prince R.C. (2003). Weathering of a subarctic oil spill over 25 years: the Caribou-Poker Creeks Research Watershed experiment. *Cold Regions Science and Technology* **36**(1-3): 11-23.

- Brandt R., Merkl N., Schultze-Kraft R., Infante C. and Broll G. (2006). Potential of vetiver (Vetiveria zizanioides (L.) Nash) for phytoremediation of petroleum hydrocarboncontaminated soils in Venezuela. International Journal of Phytoremediation 8(4): 273 -284.
- Bunt J.S. and Rovira A.D. (1988). Microbiological studies of some subantarctic soils. *Journal of Biological Science* **6**(1): 119-129.
- Chaineau C., Rougeux G., Yepremain C. and Outdot J. (2005). Effects of nutrient concentration on the biodegradation of crude oil and associated microbial populations in the soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 37: 1490-1497.
- Chaudhry Q., Blom-Zandstra M., Gupta S.K. and Joner E. (2005). Utilising the synergy between plants and rhizosphere microorganisms to enhance breakdown of organic pollutants in the environment. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* **12**(1): 34-48.
- Chen Y., Banks M. and Schwab A. (2003). Pyrene degradation in the rhizosphere of tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea*) and switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.). *Environmental Science and Technology* **37**: 5778-5782.
- Chen Y., Shen Z. and Li X. (2004). The use of vetiver grass (*Vetiveria zizanioides*) in the phytoremediation of soils contaminated with heavy metals. *Applied Geochemistry* **19**: 1553-1565.
- Chiapusio G., Pujol S., Toussaint M., Badot P. and Binet P. (2007). Phenanthrene toxicity and dissipation in rhizosphere of grassland plants (*Lolium perenne L. and Trifolium pratense L.*) in three spiked soils. *Plant and Soil* 294(1): 103-112.
- Christodoulou C., Griffin B.J. and Foden J. (1984). The geology of Macquarie Island. *ANARE Research Notes* **21**: 15.
- Clifford H. (1953). The mosses of Macquarie Island and Heard Island. *ANARE Research Notes* II: 14.

- Cofield N., Schwab A., Williams P. and Banks K. (2007). Phytoremediation of polycyclic hydrocarbon contaminated soil: part II. Impact of ecotoxicity. *International Journal of Phytoremediation* **9**: 371-384.
- Convey P. (2006). Antarctic terrestrial ecosystems: Response to environmental change. *Polarforschung* **75**(2-3): 101-111.
- Copson G. (1984). An annotated atlas of the vascular flora of Macquarie Island. ANARE Research Notes.
- Copson G. and Whinam J. (2001). Review of ecological restoration programs on sub-Antarctic Macquarie Island: Pest management processes and future directions. *Ecological management and restoration* **2**(2): 129-138.
- Coulon F. and Delille D. (2006). Influence of substratum on the degradation process in diesel polluted sub-Antarctic soils (Crozet Archipelago). *Polar Biology* **29**: 806-812.
- Coulon F., Pelletier E., Louis R., Gourhant L. and Delillet D. (2004). Degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in two sub-Antarctic soils: Influence of oleophilic fertilizer. *Environmental toxicology and chemistry* **23**(8): 1893-1901.
- Crohn P. (1986). The geology and geomorphology of Macquarie Island with special emphasis of heavy metal trace element distribution. *ANARE Research Notes* **39**: 29.
- Cunningham S., Berti W. and Huang J. (1995). Phytoremediation of contaminated soils. *Tibtech* **13**: 393-397.
- Cunningham S. and Ow D. (1996). Promise and Prospects of Phytoremediation. *Plant Physiology* **110**: 751-719.
- DeLaune R.D., Pezeshki S.R., Jugsujinda A. and Lindau C.W. (2003). Sensitivity of US Gulf of Mexico coastal marsh vegetation to crude oil: Comparison of greenhouse and field responses. *Aquatic Ecology* 37(4): 351-360.

- Delille D., Coulon F. and Pelletier E. (2004). Biostimulation of natural microbial assemblages in oil-amended vegetated and desert sub-Antarctic soils. *Microbial Ecology* **47**: 407-415.
- Delille D., Coulon F. and Pelletier E. (2007a). Long-term changes of bacterial abundance, hydrocarbon concentration and toxicity during a biostimulation treatment of oil-amended organic and mineral sub-Antarctic soil. *Polar Biology* **30**(7): 952-933.
- Delille D., Delille B. and Pelletier E. (2002a). Effectiveness of bioremediation of crude oil contaminated subantarctic intertidal sediment: The microbial response. *Microbial Ecology* 44: 118-126.
- Delille D. and Pelletier E. (2002b). Natural attenuation of diesel-oil contamination in a subantarctic soil (Crozet Island). *Polar Biology* **25**: 682-687.
- Delille D., Pelletier E. and Coulon F. (2007b). The influence of temperature on bacterial assemblages during bioremediation of a diesel fuel contaminated sub-Antarctic soil. *Cold Regions Science and Technology* **48**(2): 74-83.
- Deprez P., Arens M. and Locher H. (1994). Identification and preliminary assessment of contaminated sites in the Australian Antarctic Territory. 1. Casey station. Australian Antarctic Division, Hobart.
- Dupont R. (2006). Fundamentals of bioventing applied to fuel contaminated sites. *Environmental Progress* **12**(1): 45-53.
- Elias C. and Chadwick M. (1979). Growth characteristics of grass and legume cultivars and their potential for land reclamation. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **16**: 537-544.
- Ensley B. (2000). Rationale for use of phytoremediation. In: Raskin I. and Ensley B. (eds), *Phytoremediation of toxic metals: Using plants to clean up the environment*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc, Brisbane.
- Erskine, P. D., Bergstrom, D. M., Schmidt, S., Stewart, G. R., Tweedie, C. E., and Shaw, J. D. (1998). Subantarctic Macquarie Island – a model ecosystem for studying animal-derived sources using N<sup>15</sup> natural abundance. *Oecologia* **117**: 187–93.

- Euliss K., Ho C., Schwab A.P., Rock S. and Banks M.K. (2008). Greenhouse and field assessment of phytoremediation for petroleum contaminants in a riparian zone. *Bioresource Technology* **99**(6): 1961-1971.
- Ferguson S., Franzmann P., Revill A., Snape I. and Rayner J. (2004). The effects of nitrogen and water on mineralisation of hydrocarbon in diesel-contaminated terrestrial Antarctic soils. *Cold region science and technology* **37**(2): 197-212.
- Filler D., Reynolds C.M., Snape I., Daugulis A., Barnes D. and Williams P. (2006). Advances in engineered remediation for use in the Arctic and Antarctica. *Polar Record* 42(221): 111-120.
- Filler D., Snape I. and Barnes D. (eds)(2008). Bioremediation of petroleum hydrocarbons in cold regions. Cambridge University Press, Sydney.
- Fiorenza S., Oubre C. and Ward H., (2000). Phytoremediation of hydrocarbon-contaminated soil. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton.
- Fischerova Z., Tlustos P., Szakova J. and Sichorova K. (2006). A comparison of phytoremediation capability of selected plant species for given trace elements. *Environmental Pollution* 144: 93-100.
- Frick C., Farrell R. and Germida J. (1999). Assessment of Phytoremediation as an *In Situ* technique for cleaning oil-contaminated sites. Calgary, Petroleum Technology Alliance of Canada.
- Gao, Y. and Zhu, L. (2004). Plant uptake, accumulation and translocation of phenanthrene and pyrene in soils. *Chemosphere* **55**: 1169–1178.

- Gaskin S. (2008). Rhizoremediation of hydrocarbon contaminated soil using Australian native grasses. Doctor of Philosophy thesis, Bachelor of Applied Science. Flinders University of South Australia: pp. 179.
- Gaskin S., Soole K. and Bentham R. (2008). Screening of Australian native grasses for rhizoremediation of aliphatic hydrocarbon-contaminated soil. *International Journal of Phytoremediation* **10**: 378-389.
- Gibson T. (2000). The potential for phytoremediation in contaminated Antarctic ecosystems. Biotechnology. Honours thesis, Bachelor of Biotechnology. University of Wollongong: pp. 91.
- Greenberg B., Gurska J., Huang X., Gerhardt K., Yu X., Wang W., Nykamp J., Knezevich N., MacNeill G., Yang S., Lu X., Glick B., Gerwing P., Cryer K. and Reid N. (2008). Use of a multi-process phytoremediation system for decontamination of petroleum impacted soils: Results of successful field trials. *Environment Canada Arctic and Marine Oil Spill Program Technical Seminar (AMOP) Proceedings*. Canada 2: 615-625.
- Gunther T., Dornberger U. and Fritsche (1996). Effects of ryegrass on biodegradation of hydrocarbons in soil. *Chemosphere* **33**: 203-215.
- Hall M. and Waulters M. (1994). Managing nature tourism in the sub-Antarctic. *Annals of Tourism Research* **21**(2): 355-374.
- Harvey P., Campanella B., Castro P., Harms H., Lichtfouse E., Schaffner A., Smrcek S. and Werck-Reichhart D. (2002). Phytoremediation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons, anilines and phenols. *Environmental Science & Pollution Research* 9(1): 29-47.
- Hoeppel R., Hinchee R. and Arthur M. (1991). Bioventing soils contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology* **8**(3): 141-146.
- Hou F., Milke M., Leung D. and MacPherson D. (2001). Variations in Phytoremediation performance with diesel-contaminated soil. *Environmental Technology* **22**: 215-222.

- Huang J. and Chen J. (2003). Role of pH in phytoremediation of contaminated soils. In RengelZ. (Eds), *Handbook of soil acidity*, CRC Press, Perth, pp. 449-473.
- Huang X.-D., El-Alawi Y., Gurska J., Glick B.R. and Greenberg B.M. (2005). A multi-process phytoremediation system for decontamination of persistent total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs) from soils. *Microchemical Journal* **81**(1): 139-147.
- Huang X.-D., El-Alawi Y., Penrose D.M., Glick B.R. and Greenberg B.M. (2004). A multiprocess phytoremediation system for removal of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from contaminated soils. *Environmental Pollution* **130**(3): 465-476.
- Hutchinson s., Banks K. and Schwab A. (2001). Phytoremediation of aged petroleum sludge: Effects of inorganic fertilizer. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **30**: 395-403.
- Hutchinson, S. L., Schwab, A. P. and Banks, M. K. McCutcheon, S. C. and Schnoor, J. L. (eds) (2003). Biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in the rhiozosphere. *Phytoremediation: Transformation and Control of Contaminants*, John Wiley, Hoboken, pp. 355-386.
- Joner E.J., Hirmann D., Szolar O.H.J., Todorovic D., Leyval C. and Loibner A.P. (2004). Priming effects on PAH degradation and ecotoxicity during a phytoremediation experiment. *Environmental Pollution* **128**(3): 429-435.
- Kantvilas D. and Seppelt R. (1992). The lichen flora of Macquarie Island: introduction and an annotated checklist of species. *ANARE Research Notes*.
- Karmath R., Schnoor J. and Alvarez P. (2004). Effect of root-deprived substrates on the expression of *nah-lux* genes in *Pseudomonas fluorescens* HK44: implications for PAH biodegradation in the rhizosphere. *Environmental Science and Technology* 38: 1740-1745.
- Khan A., Kuek C., Chaudhry T., Khoo C. and Hayes W. (2000). Role of plants, mycorrhizae and phytochelators in heavy metal contaminated land remediation. *Chemosphere* 41: 197-207.

- Khan A. (2005). Role of soil microbes in the rhizospheres of plants growing on trace metal contaminated soils in phytoremediation. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology* **18**: 355-364.
- Kovar J. (2009). The rhizosphere: Biochemistry and organic substances at the soil-plant interface. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **38**: 1777.
- Krause G. and Weis E. (1991). Chlorophyll fluorescence and photosynthesis: The basics. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology* **42**: 313-349.
- Kudjo Dzantor E., Chekol T. and Vough L. (2000). Feasibility of using forage grasses and legumes for phytoremediation of organic pollutants. *Journal of Environmental Science Health* 35: 1645-1661.
- Kvesitadze G., Khatisashivili G., Sadunishvili T. and Ramsden J. (2006). Biochemical mechanisms of detoxification on Higher Plants. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Lalande T., Skipper H., Wolf D., Reynolds C., Freedman D., Pinkerton B., Hartel P. and Grimes
  L. (2003). Phytoremediation of Pyrene in a Cecil Soil under Field Conditions. *International Journal of Phytoremediation* 5(1): 1 - 12
- Leszkiewicz C. (2001). The effect of freeze/thaw temperature fluctuations on microbial metabolism of petroleum hydrocarbon contaminated Antarctic soil. Doctor of Philosophy thesis, Bachelor of Engineering: Civil. University of New Hampshire.
- Lin X., Li X., Li P., Li F., Zhang L. and Zhou Q. (2008). Evaluation of plant–microorganism synergy for the remediation of diesel fuel contaminated soil. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* **81**(1): 19-24.
- Liste H. and Felgentreu D. (2006). Crop growth, culturable bacteria, and degradation of petrol hydrocarbons (PHCs) in a long-term contaminated field soil. *Applied Soil Ecology* **31**(1-2): 43-52.

- Liste H. and Prutz I. (2006). Plant performance, dioxygenase-expressing rhizosphere bacteria, and biodegradation of weathered hydrocarbons in contaminated soil. *Chemosphere* **62**: 1411-1420.
- Maila M.P. and Cloete T.E. (2002). Germination of *Lepidium sativum* as a method to evaluate polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) removal from contaminated soil. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation* 50(2): 107-113.
- Margesin R. and Schinner F. (1999). Biological decontamination of oil spills in cold environments. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology* **74**(5): 381-389.
- Maxwell K. and Johnson G. (2000). Chlorophyll fluorescence—a practical guide. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **51**(345): 659-668.
- McCarthy K., Walker L., Vigoren L. and Bartel J. (2004). Remediation of spilled petroleum hydrocarbons by *in situ* landfarming at an Arctic site. *Cold Regions Science and Technology* **40**: 31-39.
- McCutcheon S. and Schnoor J. (2003). Overview of Phytotransformation and Control of Wastes. John Wiley, New York.
- McNicoll K. and Baweja A. (1995). Bioremediation of petroleum-contaminated soils: An Innovative, Environmentally Friendly Technology. Canada, Environment Canada.
- Macek T., Mackova M. and Kas J. (2000). Exploration of plants for the removal of organics in environmental remediation. *Biotechnology Advances* **18**: 23-34.
- Medek D. (2008). The ecophysiology of cold tolerance in the sub-Antarctic Grass, *Poa foliosa*.
   Doctor of Philosophy thesis, Biological Science. The Australian National University: pp. 143.
- Medek D., Ball M. and Schortemeyer M. (2007). Relative contributions of leaf area ratio and net assimilation rate to change in growth rate depend on growth temperature: comparative analysis of sub-Antarctic and alpine grasses. *New Phytologist* **175**: 290-300.

- Merkl N., Schultze-Kraft R. and Arias M. (2006). Effect of the tropical grass *Brachiaria brizantha* (Hochst. Ex A. Rich.) Stapf on microbial population and activity in petroleum contaminated soil. *Microbiology Research* 161: 80–91.
- Merkl N., Schultze-Kraft R. and Infante C. (2005a). Phytoremediation in the tropics influence of heavy crude oil on root morphological characteristics of graminoids. *Environmental Pollution* **138**: 86-91.
- Merkl N., Schultze-Kraft R. and Infante C. (2005b). Assessment of tropical grasses and legumes for phytoremediation of petroleum-contaminated soils. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution* 165(1): 195-209.
- Mohan S., Kisa T., Ohkuma T., Kanaly R. and Shimizu Y. (2006). Bioremediation technologies for treatment of PAH-contaminated soil and strategies to enhance process efficiency. *Review of Environmental Science and Biotechnology* 5: 347-374.
- Mohn W. and Stewart G. (2000). Limiting factors for Hydrocarbon Biodegradation at low temperatures in Arctic soil. *Soil, Biology and Biochemistry* **32**(8-9): 1161-1172.
- Newman L. and Reynolds C. (2004). Phytodegradation of organic compounds. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* **15**: 225-230.
- Nichols T.D., Wolf D.C., Rogers H.B., Beyrouty C.A. and Reynolds C.M. (1996). Rhizosphere microbial populations in contaminated soil. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* **96**: 165-178.
- Olsen P., Reardon K. and Pilon-Smits E. (2003). Ecology of the rhizosphere bioremediation. In: McCutcheon S., Jerald L., Schnoor J. (Eds.), *Phytoremediation: Transformation and Control of Contaminants*, John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken, pp. 315-326.
- Olson P., Castro A., Joern M., DuTeau N., Pilon-Smits E. and Reardon K. (2007). Comparison of plant families in a greenhouse phytoremediation study on aged polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-contaminated soil. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **36**: 1461-1469.

- Paine M., Chapman P., Allard P., Murdoch M. and Minifie D. (1996). Limited bioavailability of sediment PAH near an aluminum smelter: contamination does not equal effects. *Environmental toxicology and chemistry* 15: 2003-2018.
- Palmroth M., Pichtel J. and Puhakka J. (2002). Phytoremediation of subarctic soil contaminated with diesel fuel. *Bioresources Technology* **84**: 221-228.
- Parrish Z., Banks K. and Schwab A. (2005). Assessment of contaminated lability during phytoremediation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon impacted soil. *Environmental Pollution* 137: 187-197.
- Parrish Z., White J., Isleyen M., Gent M., Iannucci-Berger W., Eitzer B., Kelsey J. and Incorvia Mattina M. (2006). Accumulation of weathered polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) by plant and earthworm species. *Chemosphere* 64: 609–618.
- Paudyn K., Rutter A., Kerry Rowe R. and Poland J.S. (2008). Remediation of hydrocarbon contaminated soils in the Canadian Arctic by landfarming. *Cold Regions Science and Technology* 53(1): 102-114.
- Peng S., Zhou Q., Cai Z. and Zhang Z. (2009). Phytoremediation of petroleum contaminated soils by *Mirabilis Jalapa* L. in a greenhouse plot experiment. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 168(2-3): 1490-1496.
- Phillips L., Germida J., Farrell R. and Greer C. (2008). Hydrocarbon degradation potential and activity of endophytic bacteria associated with prairie plants. *Soil Biology & Biochemisty* 40: 3054-3064.
- Phillips L., Greer C., Farrell R. and Germida J. (2009). Field-scale assessment of weathered hydrocarbon degradation by mixed and single plant treatments. *Applied Soil Ecology* 42: 9-17.
- Phillips L., Greer C. and Germida J. (2006). Culture-based and culture-independent assessment of the impact of mixed and single plant treatments on rhizosphere microbial communities in hydrocarbon contaminated flare-pit soil. *Soil Biology & Biochemisty* **38**: 2823–2833.

Pilon-Smits E. (2005). Phytoremediation. Annual Review of Plant Biology 56: 15-39.

- Porra R., Thompson W. and Kriedemann P. (1989). Determination of accurate extinction coefficients and simultaneous equations for assaying chlorophylls a and b extracted with four different solvents: verification of the concentration of chlorophyll standards by atomic absorption spectroscopy. *Biochemical et Biophysica Acta* **975**: 384-394.
- Powell S.M., Ferguson S.H., Bowman J.P. and Snape I. (2006). Using real-time PCR to assess changes in the hydrocarbon-degrading microbial community in Antarctic soil during bioremediation. *Microbial Ecology* 52: 523-532.
- Pradhan S., Conrad J., Paterek J. and Sirvastava V. (1998). Potential of phytoremediation for treatment of PAHs in soil at MGP sites. *Soil Sediment Contamination* **7**: 467-480.
- Radwan S., Al-Awadhi H., Sorkhon N. and El-Nemr I. (1998). Rhizospheric hydrocarbonutilizing microorganisms as potential contributors to phytoremediation for the oily Kuwaiti desert. *Microbial Research* **153**: 247-251.
- Rayner J.L., Snape I., Walworth J.L., Harvey P. and Ferguson S. (2007). Petroleum-hydrocarbon contamination and remediation by mirobioventing at sub-Antarctic Macquarie Island. *Cold Region Science and Technology* 48: 139-153.
- Reynolds C., Barley W., Travis M., Perry L. and Iskandar I. (1998). Bioremediation of hydrocarbon-contaminated soils and groundwater in soils and groundwater in Northern climates. *Special report*: 98-5 US Army Corps of Engineers - Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory.
- Riser-Roberts E. (1998). Remediation of petroleum contaminated soils: biological, physical, and chemical processes. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton.
- Robson D., Knight D., Farrell R. and Germida J. (2003). Ability of cold-tolerant plants to grow in hydrocarbon-contaminated soil. *International Journal of Phytoremediation* 5: 105– 123.

- Roy S., Labelle S., Mehta P., Mihoc A., Fortin N., Masson C., Leblanc R., Chateauneuf G., Sura C., Gallipeau C., Olsen C., Delisle S., Labrecque M. and Greer C.W. (2005).
  Phytoremediation of heavy-metal and PAH contaminated brownfield sites. *Plant Soil* 272: 277–290.
- Saleh S., Huang X., Greenberg B. and Glick B. (2004). Phytoremediation of persistent organic contaminants in the environment. In: Singh A. and Ward O (eds) *Applied Bioremediation* and Phytoremediation. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1: 115-134.
- Sanscartier D., Zeeb B., Koch I. and Reimer K. (2009). Bioremediation of diesel-contaminated soil by heated and humidified biopile system in cold climates. *Cold Regions Science and Technology* 55(1): 167-173.
- Schafer A.N., Snape I. and Siciliano S.D. (2007). Soil biogeochemical toxicity end points for sub-Antarctic islands contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons. *Environmental Toxicity and Chemistry* 26(5): 890-897.
- Schröder P., Daubner D., Maier H., Neustifter J. and Debus R. (2008). Phytoremediation of organic xenobiotics - Glutathione dependent detoxification in Phragmites plants from European treatment sites. *Bioresource Technology* **99**(15): 7183-7191.
- Selkirk D.R., Selkirk P.M. and Seppelt R.D. (1986). An annotated bibliography of Macquarie Island Kingston, Tasmania: Dept. of Science, The Australian Antarctic Division.
- Selkirk P., Seppelt R.D. and Selkirk D.R. (1990). Subantarctic Macquarie Island: Environment and Biology. Cambridge University Press, Australia.
- Seppelt R.D. (2004). The moss flora of Macquarie Island. The Australian Antarctic Division, Hobart.
- Siciliano S.D., Germida J., Banks K. and Greer C. (2003). Changes in microbial community composition and function during a polyaromatic hydrocarbon phytoremediation field trial. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **69**(1): 483-489.

- Sicilliano S. and Germida J. (1998). Mechanisms of Phytoremediation: biochemical and ecological interactions between plants and bacteria. *Environmental Review* **6**: 65-70.
- Simpson R.D., Smith S.D.A. and Pople A.R. (1995). The effects of a spillage of diesel fuel on a rocky shore in the sub-Antarctic region. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **31**: 367-371.
- Smith M.J., Flowers T.H., Duncan H.J. and Alder J. (2006). Effects of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on germination and subsequent growth of grasses and legumes in freshly contaminated soil and soil with aged PAHs residues. *Environmental Pollution* 141(3): 519-525.
- Smith S. and Simpson R. (1995). Effects of the "*Nella Dan*" oil spill on the fauna of Durvillaea Antarctica holdfasts. *Marine Ecology and Progressive Series* **121**: 73 89.
- Smith S.D.A. (2000). The effects of a small sewage outfall on an algal epifaunal community at Macquarie Island (sub-Antarctic): A drop in the Southern Ocean? *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **40**(10): 873-878.
- Snape I., Acomb L., Barnes D., Bainbridge S., Eno R., Filler D., Plato N., Poland J., Raymond T., Rayner J., Riddle M.J., Rike A., Rutter A., Schafer A.N., Siciliano S.D. and Walworth J. (2008). Contamination, regulation, and remediation: an introduction to bioremediation of petroleum hydrocarbons in cold regions. In: Filler D., Snape I. and Barnes D. (eds) *Bioremediation of petroleum hydrocarbons in cold regions*. Cambridge University Press, Sydney, pp. 1-37.
- Snape I., Ferguson S.H., Harvey P.M. and Riddle M.J. (2006). Investigation of evaporation and biodegradation of fuel spills in Antarctica: II-extent of natural attenuation at Casey Station. *Chemosphere* 63: 89–98.
- Snape I., McA.Harvey P., Ferguson S., Rayner J. and Revill A.T. (2005). Investigation of evaporation and biodegradation of fuel spills in Antarctica I. A chemical approach using GC - FID. *Chemosphere* 61: 1485-1494.

- South D.B. (1995). Relative Growth Rates: A Critique. *South African Forestry Journal* **173**: 43-48.
- Spiegel F. and Stephenson S. (2000). Protostelids of Macquarie Island. *Mycologia* **92**(5): 849-852.
- Stark S., Gardner D. and Snape I. (2003). Assessment of contamination by heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons at Atlas Cove Station, Heard Island. *Polar Record* **39**(211): 397-414.
- Taylor B. (1955). The Flora, Vegetation and Soils of Macquarie Island. *ANARE Reports Series B* 2(19): 215-233.
- Thompson O., Wolf D., Mattice J. and Thoma G. (2008). Influence of Nitrogen Addition and Plant Root Parameters on Phytoremediation of Pyrene-contaminated Soil. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution* **189**(1): 37-47.
- Tin T., Fleming Z., Hughes K., Ainley D., Convey P., Moreno C., Pfeiffer S., Scott J. and Snape I. (2008). Review Impacts of local human activities on the Antarctic environment. *Antarctic Science* 21: 3-33.
- Tucker R. and Shaw J. (2000). Phytoremediation and public acceptance. Phytoremediation of toxic metals, using plants to clean up the environment. In: Raskin I. and Ensley B. (eds), *Phytoremediation of toxic metals: Using plants to clean up the environment*. John Wiley & Sons Inc, Brisbane, pp. 33-42.
- Walworth J., Pond A., Snape I., Rayner J., Ferguson S. and Harvey P. (2007a). Nitrogen requirements for maximising petroleum bioremediation in a sub-Antarctic soil. *Cold Regions Science and Technology* 48: 84-91.
- Walworth J., Pond A., Snape I., Rayner J. and Harvey P. (2007b). Fine tuning soil nitrogen to maximize petroleum bioremediation in contaminated soil from Macquarie Island. *Cold region science and technology* 42(2): 84-91.

- Wang J., Zhang Z., Su Y., He W., He F. and Song H. (2008). Phytoremediation of petroleum polluted soil. *Petroleum Science* 5(2): 167-171.
- Wasley J., King C., Bramley-Alves J. and Powell S. (2009). Phytoremediation of hydrocarbon contaminants in sub-Antarctic soils. *Australian Society for Extoxicology*, Adelaide.
- Wenzel W. (2008). Rhizosphere processes and management in plant-assisted bioremediation (phytoremediation) of soils. *Plant and Soil* **321**(1-2): 385 408.
- Whinam J., Chilcott N. and Bergstrom D.N. (2005). Subantarctic hitchhikers: expeditioners as vectors for the introduction of alien organisms. *Biological Conservation* **121**: 207–219.
- White P., Wolf D., Thoma G. and Reynolds C. (2006). Phytoremediation of Alkylated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in a Crude Oil-Contaminated Soil. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution* 169(1): 207-220.
- Yeung P., Johnson R. and Xu J. (1997). Biodegradation of Petroleum Hydrocarbons in Soil as Affected by Heating and Forced Aeration. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **26**: 1511-1516.
- Zekri A.Y. and Chaalal O. (2005). Effect of Temperature on Biodegradation of Crude Oil. Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects 27(1): 233 -244.
- Zhuang X., Chen J., Shim H. and Bai Z. (2007). New advances in plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria for bioremediation. *Environment International* **33**: 406-413.

# Appendix

## Appendix A

	Mean (± SE)		<i>t</i> -test		
	2 months	4 months	t	c.v.	0.05
Shoots	6.17(0.72)	13.83(2.08)	20.430	2.101	significant
Roots	1.65(0.42)	8.04(2.86)	15.767	2.101	significant
s/r ratio	4.62(0.81)	2.64(0.55)	7.542	2.101	significant

**Table A.** The effect of time on shoot, root biomass and shoot/root ratio of *P. foliosa. t*-test (p < 0.05).

#### Appendix B

**Table B.** The effect of SAB concentration of the relative growth rates (MRGR) for shoots and roots of *P*. *foliosa* using data from the two and four month harvest. One-way ANOVA (p < 0.05).

<u>Shoot</u>					
Source	df	F ratio	p value		
Shoots	3	0.202	0.893		
Roots	3	0.164	0.918		
Error	16				
Total	19				

## Appendix C



**Figure C.** Changes in the TPH concentration of planted (*P. foliosa*) and unplanted soil in relation to increasing hydrocarbon concentrations (mg/kg), for time intervals 0, 2 and 4 months (n= 5).

#### Appendix D

**Table D.** Initial soil microbial counts of total heterotrophs and hydrocarbon degraders, n = 5.

	Initial number (MPN/g soil)
Total heterotrophs	16 x 10 <sup>5</sup>
Hydrocarbon degraders	10144.4